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Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

Impacted by the global financial crisis, the plunge in consumer confidence worldwide 
resulted from the deteriorating global economy and the fierce competition in the global 
mobile handset industry, 2008 was one of the most difficult years for the Group. The 
Group achieved sales of 7 million units and recorded total revenue of HK$2,267.3 
million.

Since the takeover of the management of Philips mobile handset business in 2007, 
the Group underwent a series of business operational restructuring to redefine and 
streamline its operations and to transform itself into a complete business solution 
provider in the mobile handset industry. The overall business reform was basically 
completed and will set a solid foundation for the future.

In June 2008, the Group took one significant step towards the diversification of its 
business by acquiring the entire equity interest in CEC Huada Electronic Design Co., Ltd. 
(“Huada Electronics”). Huada Electronics has a strong presence in the integrated circuits 
industry and is an industrial leader in the design and research and development of 
integrated circuits. The technologies and products of Huada Electronics have been widely 
applied in the areas of social security, electronic payments, telecommunications and 
consumer electronics. The acquisition provides the Group with a valuable opportunity 
to enter into the integrated circuits chips design market, which is a high-tech area with 
better profit margin, and enables the Group to leverage on Huada Electronics’ expertise 
in the integrated circuits industry to enhance its capability in the consumer electronics 
and telecommunications products sector in the future. Through the acquisition of 
Huada Electronics, the Group intends to transform itself from a manufacturer of mobile 
handsets and other portable electronic products to an active player in the industry 
possessing more comprehensive capability in the upstream of the industry value chain. 
The PRC government and relevant regulatory authorities are in the course of approving 
the Company’s acquisition of Huada Electronics.
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Chairman’s Statement

The global information technology industry tends to focus on the advancement and 
development of their core technologies and businesses. The Group will seize this 
opportunity to advance its core technology from low end to mid-to-high end stream and 
to promote its core business to the upstream of the industry value chain. The Group will 
seize the opportunities arising from the business restructuring in the global information 
technology industry to explore new businesses at the upstream of the industry value 
chain through merger and acquisition or business cooperation. Our management will 
continue to create value for the shareholders through careful planning and committed 
efforts for sustainable growth. Our ultimate objective is to bring the best returns to 
our shareholders.

2009 will continue to be a difficult year as a result of the global economic downturn. 
However, we believe that opportunities always come along with crisis. The governments 
worldwide have co-ordinated their efforts in coping with the economic downturn and 
the PRC government has also recently passed a massive stimulus program for the ten 
pillar industries (including IT industries) as one of its initiatives to boost internal demand. 
All of these will provide the Group with development opportunities. Leveraging on 
the opportunities to enter into the integrated circuits chips design market and market 
diversification, together with the Group’s high-quality and innovative products and 
effective cost control measures, the Group is optimistic about its future business growth 
and is confident that it can overcome all the challenges lie ahead.

Year 2008 was an extraordinary year and made extraordinary demands on many of our 
staff member, on behalf of the Board, I would like to thank for their contributions and 
efforts made and to express our most sincere gratitude to our shareholders and business 
partners for their continued cooperation and support.

Sincerely yours,
Xiong Qunli
Chairman

Hong Kong, 14 April 2009
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BuSineSS Review

The environment of the mobile handset market remained tough during the year. Impacted by increasing cost, rapid 

evolution in products and technologies and plunge in consumer confidence worldwide resulted from the global 

economic and financial crisis, the operating environment was difficult in the PRC and particularly tough in most other 

economies around the world. In 2007, the Group took over the management of Philips mobile handset business and 

migrated from an OEM/ODM supplier that simply delivered products to its business partners, to a brand operator 

and emerging as one of the world’s leading mobile handset industry players. Since then, the Group underwent 

a series of business operational restructuring to redefine and streamline its operations and sales network and to 

control operational risks. The overall progress of the business reform was however slower than expected. During 

the year, due to certain delay in product roll-out, new products were mostly launched in the second half of the 

year when consumer spending has significantly slowed down as a result of the global economic and financial crisis. 

Under these challenges, the performance of the Group was unsatisfactory.

During the year, the Group primarily focused on the clearance of old models or end-of-life products and the 

alignment of the Philips mobile handset business, which has resulted in a decrease in the sales of own-branded 

mobile handsets. Such decrease has been offset by the increase in the sales of other OEM mobile handsets and as 

a result, sales of own-branded and other OEM mobile handsets increased by 50% to 3 million units. However, as 

the sales of Philips mobile handsets has dropped by 43% to 2.1 million units, sales of mobile handsets had in total 

dropped by 11% to 5.1 million units. As a result of significant slowdown in consumer spending in the second half 

of the year, sales of portable media players also dropped by 32% to 1.9 million units. The overall sales of mobile 

handsets and portable media players dropped by 18% to 7 million units. Total revenue for the year dropped by 28% 

to HK$2,267.3 million. The overall gross profit margin of the Group during the year was 19% (2007:18%).

During the year, the Group incurred selling and marketing costs of HK$325.9 million and administrative expenses 

of HK$314.8 million, representing an increase of 26% and a decrease of 4% from last year, respectively. The 

increase in selling and marketing costs reflected the Group’s commitment towards investing additional resources in 

developing the Philips mobile handset business. In the second half of 2007, the Group set up new functional units 

to handle the additional sales and marketing activities for the new business. During the year, tremendous amount 

of resources were invested by the Group in the sales and distribution functions in both PRC and overseas markets. 

To pave way for its global sales operation, the Group established two subsidiaries in Russia and Turkey in the second 

quarter of the year to strengthen its business operation in Europe. The Group also operates a sales co-ordination 

centre in Singapore to manage its sales activities in Asia and other overseas countries.

Finance costs increased from HK$9.1 million in 2007 to HK$33.6 million in 2008 due to the cost of financing for 

our operations in PRC, Russia and Turkey. The Group recorded an exchange loss of HK$111.7 million (2007: HK$4.9 

million) primarily as a result of the devaluation of Euro, Russian Ruble and New Turkish Lira in the second half of 

2008.

For the year ended 31 December 2008, the loss attributable to equity holders of the Company was HK$220 million 

(2007: profit of HK$8.1 million), and the basic loss per share was HK20.3 cents (2007: earning per share of HK0.75 

cents).

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ended 31 December 2008 (2007: nil).
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Capital ReSouRCeS anD liQuiDity

The Group finances its operations primarily by internal resources and short term bank borrowings. As at 31 December 

2008, the Group had cash and cash equivalent amounted to HK$343.1 million (2007: HK$391.7 million) which were 

primarily denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and United States dollars.

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had short term bank borrowings of HK$450.8 million (2007: HK$394.1 million), 

which were denominated in Renminbi and United States dollars. Other than bank loans of HK$25.5 million which 

were pledged with trade receivables of HK$28.4 million, all other bank loans were unsecured (2007: unsecured 

bank loans of HK$394.1 million). The bank borrowings were borrowed at contracted fixed interest rate. The Group’s 

available banking facilities were HK$456.4 million. As at 31 December 2008, other than the trade receivables of 

HK$28.4 million, the Group did not have any pledged assets or guarantee (2007: nil).

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had net current assets of HK$171.6 million (2007: HK$497 million). The overall 

gearing ratio, which is calculated as the total liabilities over total assets of the Group, was 80% (2007: 67%).

The Group’s export sales are predominantly invoiced in United States dollars, Russian Ruble and New Turkish Lira 

and its domestic sales are invoiced in Renminbi. The Group imports some of its raw materials and production and 

testing equipment from overseas suppliers which are paid in United States dollars and Euro. The Group will make 

use of hedging contracts, when appropriate, to leverage the risk of foreign exchange fluctuation arising from its 

operations.

Contingent liaBilitieS anD Capital CommitmentS

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had contracted but not provided for capital commitments of HK$2.1 million 

(2007: HK$2.5 million) for the acquisition of fixed assets and intangible assets. The Group did not have any material 

contingent liabilities outstanding as at 31 December 2008 (2007: nil).

employee anD RemuneRation poliCieS

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had approximately 2,200 employees (2007: 2,400 employees), the majority of 

whom were based in China. Personnel expenses during the year were HK$197 million (2007: HK$173.2 million).

The Group recognises the importance of high calibre and competent staff and has a strict recruitment policy and 

performance appraisal scheme. Remuneration packages are largely in line with industry practices, and are formulated 

on the basis of performance and experience and will be reviewed regularly. Bonus and other merit payments are 

linked with the performance of the Group and of the individuals as incentive to optimise performance. The Company 

has in place a share option scheme, pursuant to which share options may be granted to selected personnel of the 

Group, with a view to encouraging employees to work towards enhancing the value of the Group.

ConneCteD tRanSaCtionS

On 9 April 2008, the Group’s principal operating subsidiary, Shenzhen Sang Fei Consumer Communications Company 

Ltd. (“Sang Fei”) entered into a tenancy agreement (“Sang Da Tenancy Agreement”) with Shenzhen SED Industry Co., 

Ltd. (“Sang Da”). Pursuant to the Sang Da Tenancy Agreement, Sang Da agreed to lease to Sang Fei the premises 

which is situated in Shenzhen, PRC. Sang Fei will use the premises as its offices, factory and warehouse.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ConneCteD tRanSaCtionS (Continued)

The aggregate rentals, management fees, air-conditioning fees and utilities surcharges payable by Sang Fei to Sang 

Da under the Sang Da Tenancy Agreement for the nine months ended 31 December 2008, each of the two financial 

years ending 31 December 2009 and 2010 and the four months ending 30 April 2011 are expected not to exceed 

the respective total amounts as set out in the following table:

For the nine

months ended

31 December

2008

For the year

ending

31 December

2009

For the year

ending

31 December

2010

For the

four months

ending

30 april 

2011

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Rentals 4,459 6,272 6,272 1,814

Management fees 632 883 883 251

Air-conditioning fees 108 162 162 54

Utilities surcharges 100 160 190 76

total: 5,299 7,477 7,507 2,195

Based on the aggregate rentals, management fees, air-conditioning fees and utilities surcharges payable by Sang 

Fei to Sang Da under the Sang Da Tenancy Agreement, the caps for the transactions contemplated under the Sang 

Da Tenancy Agreement for the nine months ended 31 December 2008, each of the two financial years ending 

31 December 2009 and 2010 and the four months ending 30 April 2011 are therefore set at RMB5,299,000, 

RMB7,477,000, RMB7,507,000 and RMB2,195,000, respectively.

Sang Da is a substantial shareholder of Sang Fei holding 10% of its equity interest. Sang Da is indirectly owned as 

to approximately 42.23% by China Electronics Corporation (“CEC”). CEC is the Company’s ultimate controlling 

shareholder, holding 74.98% interest in the Company. As such, Sang Da is a connected person of the Company 

as well as an associate of CEC. Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under the Sang Da Tenancy Agreement 

constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on 

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”). The directors of the Company are of the view that the 

transactions contemplated under the Sang Da Tenancy Agreement are carried out in the ordinary and usual course 

of business of the Group and are on normal commercial terms which are fair and reasonable and in the interest of 

the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

On 20 June 2008, the Company entered into an acquisition agreement (the “China Huada Agreement”) with China 

Huada Integrated Circuit Design (Group) Co., Ltd. (“China Huada”). Pursuant to the China Huada Agreement, the 

Company agreed to purchase a 64.75% equity interest in Huada Electronics at a consideration of HK$984.2 million 

(the “China Huada Acquisition”). On the same day, the Company also entered into acquisition agreements with 

Beijing Shoufa Xinan Data System Technology Company Limited and with eight individuals respectively to acquire 

all the remaining 35.25% equity interest in Huada Electronics at an aggregate consideration of HK$535.8 million. 

The aggregate consideration payable by the Company for the acquisition of Huada Electronics of HK$1,520 million 

shall be satisfied by the Company allotting and issuing an aggregate of 608,000,000 shares of the Company 

(“Consideration Share”), credited as fully paid, at an issue price of HK$2.50 per Consideration Share.
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ConneCteD tRanSaCtionS (Continued)

The acquisition of all the equity interest in Huada Electronics constituted a major transaction of the Company. 

Moreover, as China Huada is owned as to 50% by CEC, China Huada is a connected person of the Company and 

the entering into the China Huada Agreement also constituted a connected transaction of the Company under 

the Listing Rules. The acquisition was approved by the independent shareholders of the Company at the special 

general meeting held on 21 July 2008. The PRC government and relevant regulatory authorities are in the course 

of approving the Company’s acquisition of Huada Electronics.

Huada Electronics has on-going transactions with CEC and its subsidiaries (“CEC Group”) in its ordinary and usual 

course of business. These transactions will, after completion of the China Huada Acquisition, become continuing 

connected transactions of the Company. In this regard, Huada Electronics and CEC entered into certain continuing 

connected transactions agreements to regulate the continuing connected transactions between Huada Electronics 

and the CEC Group.

(1) Huada Business Services agreement

On 20 June 2008, Huada Electronics entered into a business services agreement (the “Huada Business Services 

Agreement”) with CEC which covers (i) the provision of products processing, testing and assembling services 

by the CEC Group and the purchase of raw materials and modules from the CEC Group; (ii) the sales of 

integrated circuit cards and smart cards modules, chips and electronic design automation (“EDA”) tools to 

the CEC Group; and (iii) the provision of canteen services by the CEC Group to Huada Electronics. The Huada 

Business Services Agreement takes effect from the date of completion of the China Huada Acquisition and will 

be valid until 31 December 2010. The Huada Business Services Agreement was approved by the independent 

shareholders of the Company at the special general meeting held on 21 July 2008.

It is expected that for the period commencing from the completion of the China Huada Acquisition until 31 

December 2008 and the two financial years ending 31 December 2009 and 2010, the amount of consideration 

payable by Huada Electronics to the CEC Group for the provision of products processing, testing and 

assembling services by the CEC Group and the purchase of raw materials and modules from the CEC Group, 

the amount of consideration receivable by Huada Electronics from the CEC Group for the sales of products 

and the amount of consideration payable by Huada Electronics to the CEC Group for the provision of canteen 

services are not expected to exceed the amounts set out in the following table. Accordingly, these amounts 

were set as the caps for the relevant continuing connected transactions.
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ConneCteD tRanSaCtionS (Continued)

(1) Huada Business Services agreement (Continued)

type of transaction

For the period

 commencing

from the

 completion of

 the China Huada

 acquisition until

 31 December 

2008

For the year

 ending 

31 December

2009

For the year

 ending 

31 December 

2010

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Processing, testing and assembling services

 and purchase of raw materials and modules 

 – Service charges payable by

   Huada Electronics 284,640 293,310 421,140

Canteen services

 – Service charges payable by 

   Huada Electronics 550 1,120 1,160

Total service charges payable by

 Huada Electronics 285,190 294,430 422,300

Sales of products 

 – Charges receivable by 

   Huada Electronics 19,620 36,000 43,200

(2) Huada Deposit Services agreement

Huada Electronics and China Electronics Corporation Finance Co., Ltd. (“CEC Finance”) entered into a deposit 

services agreement (the “Huada Deposit Services Agreement”) on 20 June 2008. CEC Finance is a subsidiary 

of CEC and therefore a connected person of the Company. CEC Finance is a non-bank financial institution 

approved and regulated by the People’s Bank of China and China Banking Regulatory Commission. CEC 

Finance was established for the purpose of enhancing the centralised management of funds among members 

of the CEC Group and for improving the fund utilisation efficiency of the CEC Group as a whole. As an intra-

group service provider, CEC Finance generally has a better and more efficient communication with Huada 

Electronics which will allow expedient and efficient service provision by CEC Finance.

The Huada Deposit Services Agreement does not create any obligation on the part of Huada Electronics to 

utilise any particular services of CEC Finance. Other than the fixed deposits which have specified deposit terms, 

Huada Electronics may at any time withdraw the funds deposited with CEC Finance without incurring any 

penalty. CEC Finance is one of the financial institutions which provide deposit services to Huada Electronics. 

Huada Electronics may obtain deposit services available from any other financial institutions in addition to 

or instead of CEC Finance, as it sees fit.
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ConneCteD tRanSaCtionS (Continued)

(2) Huada Deposit Services agreement (Continued)

The interest rates for deposit shall be the standard rates promulgated by the People’s Bank of China for the 

same type of deposits. Such interest rates will not be less than the rates offered to Huada Electronics by 

normal commercial banks in the PRC for comparable deposits. The Huada Deposit Services Agreement takes 

effect from the date of completion of the China Huada Acquisition and will be valid until 31 December 2010. 

Upon expiry of the initial term of the Huada Deposit Services Agreement, the agreement may be renewed 

for further terms of three years automatically unless either party objects by giving a written notice at least 

one month prior to the expiry of the Huada Deposit Services Agreement.

The Company proposed that for the period commencing from the completion of the China Huada Acquisition 

until 31 December 2010, the maximum balance of deposits (including the interests accrued thereon) 

maintained by Huada Electronics with CEC Finance shall not exceed RMB10 million on any given day. In 

determining the above proposed cap, the Company has taken into account the cashflow position of Huada 

Electronics and the treasury policy of the Group.

(3) Huada tenancy agreement

On 20 June 2008, Huada Electronics and Beijing Huada Zhibao Electronic System Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Huada 

Zhibao”) entered into a tenancy agreement (“Huada Tenancy Agreement”) pursuant to which Beijing Huada 

Zhibao agreed to lease to Huada Electronics the premises which is situated in Gaojiayuan, Beijing, PRC as 

its research and development centre and general offices. Beijing Huada Zhibao is a subsidiary of CEC and 

therefore a connected person of the Company. The lease term was for one year commencing from 1 July 

2008 and expiring on 30 June 2009 (both days inclusive). Huada Electronics has the right to request for the 

renewal of the Huada Tenancy Agreement by giving a written notice to Beijing Huada Zhibao three months 

prior to the expiry of the Huada Tenancy Agreement. Huada Electronics shall have priority over the others 

to lease the premises.

The aggregate rentals payable by Huada Electronics to Beijing Huada Zhibao under the Huada Tenancy 

Agreement for the period commencing from the completion of the China Huada Acquisition until 31 

December 2008 and for the six months ending 30 June 2009 are not expected to exceed RMB960,000 and 

RMB1,041,272, respectively. The caps for the transactions contemplated under the Huada Tenancy Agreement 

for the period commencing from the completion of the China Huada Acquisition until 31 December 2008 

and for the six months ending 30 June 2009 were therefore set at such amounts accordingly.
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ConneCteD tRanSaCtionS (Continued)

On 16 January 2009, CEC Finance proposed to provide financial assistance of RMB60 million to Sang Fei through a 

factoring agreement (the “Factoring Agreement”), which agreement has not been executed as at the date of this 

report. The principal terms of the Factoring Agreement are summarised as follows:

Loan amount: A revolving factoring facility of up to RMB60 million

Factoring ratio: Prior to each drawdown, Sang Fei is required to assign its account receivables 

to CEC Finance with recourse at a discount rate of 80%.

Availability period: A period of one year commencing from the effective date of the Factoring 

Agreement (being the date on which the conditions precedent to the 

Factoring Agreement are fulfilled), during which period, Sang Fei may at any 

time make drawdown by assigning its account receivables which are repayable 

within the next 12 months to CEC Finance.

Factoring period and interest rate: The factoring period of any account receivable shall not be longer than 11 

months, which period refers to the period commencing from the date on 

which the account receivable is factored until the agreed settlement date of 

the account receivable. If the account receivable is not recovered after the 

expiry of the factoring period, an additional period of a maximum of one 

month may be allowed for the recovery of the account receivable. If the 

account receivable or any part of it still remains outstanding after the expiry 

of the additional period, CEC Finance may request Sang Fei to repurchase the 

outstanding account receivable.

The interest rates applicable to the factoring period, the additional period 

and the period thereafter are set out below:

Factoring period 

 and additional 

 period:

the standard rate promulgated by the People’s Bank of 

China from time to time for Renminbi short-term loans 

for a period of more than three months and up to and 

including six months.

Thereafter: 130% of the standard rate promulgated by the People’s 

Bank of China from time to time for Renminbi short-term 

loans for a period of more than three months and up to 

and including six months, or the interest rate payable 

at the expiry of the additional period, whichever is the 

higher.

As CEC Finance is a subsidiary of CEC and therefore a connected person of the Company, the Factoring Agreement 

constitutes a connected transaction of the Company under the Listing Rules. The Factoring agreement was approved 

by the independent shareholders of the Company at the special general meeting held on 26 February 2009. CEC 

Finance has commenced credit check on Sang Fei and will execute the Factoring Agreement upon being satisfied 

with the results of such check.
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ConneCteD tRanSaCtionS (Continued)

On 16 January 2009, Sang Fei entered into a tenancy agreement (“2009 First Tenancy Agreement”) with Sang Da 

pursuant to which Sang Fei agreed to lease certain factory premises in Shenzhen, PRC from Sang Da for a term of 

three years.

The aggregate rentals payable by Sang Fei to Sang Da under the 2009 First Tenancy Agreement for each of the three 

financial years ending 31 December 2009, 2010 and 2011 are not expected to exceed RMB5,292,000 per annum 

and such amount has been set as the annual cap for the transactions contemplated under the 2009 First Tenancy 

Agreement for each of the three financial years ending 31 December 2009, 2010 and 2011 accordingly.

On 16 January 2009, Sang Fei entered into another tenancy agreement (“2009 Second Tenancy Agreement”) with 

Sang Da pursuant to which Sang Fei agreed to lease certain factory premises in Shenzhen, PRC from Sang Da for 

a term of three years.

The aggregate rentals payable by Sang Fei to Sang Da under the 2009 Second Tenancy Agreement for each of the 

three financial years ending 31 December 2009, 2010 and 2011 are not expected to exceed RMB1,684,800 per 

annum and such amount has been set as the annual cap for the transactions contemplated under the 2009 Second 

Tenancy Agreement for each of the three financial years ending 31 December 2009, 2010 and 2011 accordingly.

On 16 January 2009, Sang Fei entered into a third tenancy agreement (“2009 Third Tenancy Agreement”) with 

Sang Da pursuant to which Sang Fei agreed to lease certain staff quarters in Shenzhen, PRC from Sang Da for a 

term of three years.

The aggregate rentals and management fees payable by Sang Fei to Sang Da under the 2009 Third Tenancy 

Agreement for each of the three financial years ending 31 December 2009, 2010 and 2011 are not expected to 

exceed RMB749,000 per annum and such amount has been set as the annual cap for the transactions contemplated 

thereunder for each of the three financial years ending 31 December 2009, 2010 and 2011 accordingly.

Sang Da is a substantial shareholder of Sang Fei holding 10% of its equity interest. Sang Da is indirectly owned as 

to approximately 42.23% by CEC. As such, Sang Da is a connected person of the Company and the transactions 

contemplated under the 2009 First Tenancy Agreement, 2009 Second Tenancy Agreement and 2009 Third Tenancy 

Agreement (collectively the “2009 Tenancy Agreements”) constitute continuing connected transactions of the 

Company under the Listing Rules. The 2009 Tenancy Agreements was approved by the independent shareholders 

of the Company at the special general meeting held on 26 February 2009.
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The Company is committed to achieving the best corporate governance practices by emphasising its accountability, 

transparency, independence, responsibility and fairness. The Company is dedicated to exercise corporate governance 

through regular reviews of its adopted practices with reference to the Code on Corporate Governance Practices 

(“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

The Company has fully complied with the code provisions in the CG Code throughout 2008. The following 

summarises the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company.

BoaRD oF DiReCtoRS

The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) consists of two executive directors, two non-executive directors and 

three independent non-executive directors. The Chairman of the Board is a non-executive director, who is responsible 

for leading and overseeing the functioning of the Board and the strategic development of the Group. The Managing 

Director is delegated with the authority and responsible for managing the Group’s business, and the implementation 

of the Group’s strategies in achieving the overall commercial objectives. There are no financial, business, family or 

other material relationships among the directors (including the Chairman and the Managing Director).

All the directors, including the non-executive directors, will be subject to retirement by rotation every three years in 

accordance with the Listing Rules and the bye-laws of the Company. The remuneration of the directors are determined 

with reference to their duties, responsibilities and experience, and to the prevailing market conditions.

The Board is responsible for the formulation of long term business objectives, strategies and plans, and to monitor 

and control the operating and financial performance of the Group. The day-to-day operations and implementation 

of business objectives are delegated to the Managing Director. The management is delegated with power and 

authority to carry out daily operations and duties. 

The Board has the power and is responsible for appointing new directors to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition 

to the Board. The Board will take into consideration the candidate’s skills, knowledge and experience appropriate 

for the requirements of the Company when considering a nomination. For the nomination and appointment of Mr. 

Xiong Qunli, these criteria and procedures have been applied. In 2008, one board meeting was held , at which all 

directors are present, to consider and approve the nomination and appointment of Mr. Xiong Qunli as Chairman 

of the Board and non-executive director of the Company.
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BoaRD oF DiReCtoRS (Continued)

All directors have actively participated in the review and monitoring of the Company’s business. A list of directors 

and their attendance record of the board meetings in 2008 are set out below:

Number of full board meetings held in 2008: 6

member of the Board number of meetings attended

Non-executive directors

Xiong Qunli (Chairman) (Note 1) 5

Chen Zhaoxiong (Note 2) 0

Tong Baoan (Vice Chairman) 6

Executive directors

Fan Qingwu (Managing Director) 6

Hua Longxing 5

Independent non-executive directors

Chan Kay Cheung 6

Wong Po Yan 6

Yin Yongli 6

Notes:

(1) Mr. Xiong Qunli was appointed Chairman of the Board and non-executive director on 21 January 2008.

(2) Mr. Chen Zhaoxiong resigned as Chairman of the Board and non-executive director on 14 January 2008.

The biographies of the directors are set out on pages 16 and 17 of the annual report.

ComplianCe witH tHe moDel CoDe FoR SeCuRitieS tRanSaCtionS 
By DiReCtoRS oF liSteD iSSueRS (“moDel CoDe”)

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules to regulate the directors’ 

securities transactions. All directors have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company, that they have fully 

complied with the Model Code throughout 2008.

RemuneRation Committee

The Board has established a remuneration committee, comprising the three independent non-executive directors and 

an executive director. A list of members of the remuneration committee is set out below. The terms of reference 

of the remuneration committee are available for inspection upon request at the principal office of the Company 

in Hong Kong.
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RemuneRation Committee (Continued)

The principal responsibilities of the remuneration committee include reviewing and recommending to the Board the 

remuneration policy and the remuneration of the directors and the senior management.

The remuneration committee held three meetings in 2008 to review the remuneration package of the directors 

and the policy over grant of share option to employees. The attendance of individual members at the remuneration 

committee meetings is set out below:

member of the remuneration committee number of meetings attended

Wong Po Yan (Chairman) 3

Chan Kay Cheung 3

Yin Yongli 3

Fan Qingwu 3

Details of the remuneration of the directors for the year ended 31 December 2008 and the interest of the directors 

in share options are set out on pages 79 and 21 of the annual report, respectively.

auDit Committee

The Company has established an audit committee comprising three independent non-executive directors of the 

Company. The members have extensive experience in financial matters and one of them is a certified public 

accountant. A list of members of the audit committee is set out below. The terms of reference of the audit committee 

are available for inspection upon request at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong.

The audit committee provides independent review and supervision of financial reporting, and examines the 

effectiveness of the internal controls of the Group and the adequacy of the external audits. The audit committee 

examines all matters relating to the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, including consideration 

of the auditing functions, internal controls, information systems, and financial reporting matters. External auditors 

and the directors are invited to attend the meetings as and when necessary. The audit committee also serves as a 

channel of communication between the Board and the external auditors.

The audit committee held two meetings in 2008 to review the annual and interim financial statements and the 

effectiveness of the internal control practices of the Group. The audit committee has also reviewed the audit plan 

and approach of the external auditors and monitored the progress and results of the audit regularly. The attendance 

of individual members at the audit committee meeting is set out below:

member of the audit committee number of meetings attended

Chan Kay Cheung (Chairman) 2

Wong Po Yan 2

Yin Yongli* 2

* certified public accountant
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eXteRnal auDitoRS

For the year ended 31 December 2008, the fees paid to the Company’s external auditors in respect of audit and 

non-audit services provided to the Company and its subsidiaries is set out below:

2008

HK$’000

Audit services 2,500

Non-audit services (included tax matters, review and other reporting services) 3,350

5,850

aCCountaBility anD auDit

The Board is responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial statements which give a true and fair view of 

the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flow during the reporting period. A statement from 

the auditors about their reporting responsibilities is set out on pages 28 to 29 of the annual report. In preparing 

the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2008, the directors have selected suitable accounting 

policies and applied them consistently and have made prudent and reasonable judgements and estimates and have 

prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis. The Board has also reviewed the effectiveness of the 

internal control system of the Group, including all the material controls in financial, operational, compliance and risk 

management functions, with the assistance of the external auditors, to ensure that a sound system is maintained 

and operated by the management in compliance with the agreed processes and standards.
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non-eXeCutive DiReCtoRS

mr. Xiong Qunli, aged 52, is the Chairman of the Company. Mr. Xiong graduated from the Faculty of 

Electromagnetic Engineering of Northwest Institute of Telecommunication Engineering and holds a postgraduate 

degree in Economic Administration from the Party School of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of 

China, and is a senior engineer at researcher level. Mr. Xiong is the chairman of China Electronics Corporation 

(“CEC”), the controlling shareholder of the Company, and was previously the director of No. 36 Research Institute 

of the Ministry of Information Industry (“MII”), the vice president of China Academy of Electronics and Information 

Technology of MII, and the vice president of China Electronics Technology Group Corporation from 1995 to 2005. 

Mr. Xiong is also the vice president of Chinese Institute of Electronics, an executive committee member of China 

Institute of Communications and a member of the expert committee of the State Plan 863. Mr. Xiong has been 

deeply involved in the information technology industry and has extensive experience in strategic planning, research 

and development and corporate management. Mr. Xiong joined the Company in January 2008.

mr. tong Baoan, aged 61, is the Vice Chairman of the Company. Mr. Tong graduated from Tianjin University in 

the PRC and is a senior engineer. Mr. Tong is the chairman of Shanghai Hua Hong (Group) Company Limited and 

an independent director of China Er Zhong Group (De Yang) Heavy Industries Co., Ltd. Mr. Tong was the deputy 

director of the Department of International Cooperation of the Ministry of Electronics Industry. Mr. Tong was the 

general manager of Shenzhen Sang Da Electronics Corporation from 1996 to 2001, the vice president of CEC from 

2001 to 2005 and a director of CEC from 2005 to 2008. Mr. Tong joined the Company in September 2004.

eXeCutive DiReCtoRS

mr. Fan Qingwu, aged 45, is the Managing Director of the Company. Mr. Fan is also a director of Shenzhen Sang 

Fei Consumer Communications Company Ltd. (“Sang Fei”). Mr. Fan graduated from the Department of Aircraft 

Engineering of Beijing Institute of Technology and also holds a postgraduate degree in Economics from the Renmin 

University of China in the PRC. From 1996 to 1999, Mr. Fan was the executive vice president of China Securities 

Industry Institute. From 1999 to 2003, he was the general manager of the Investment Banking Department and the 

Asset Management Department of CEC. Mr. Fan was also the Chief Economist of CEC. Mr. Fan joined the Company 

in September 2004.

mr. Hua longxing, aged 67, is an Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Hua graduated from the Faculty of 

Wireless Engineering of Southeast University in the PRC. From 1993 to 2000, Mr. Hua was the vice chairman and 

the general manager of Shenzhen SED Industry Company Limited. Before that, he was the deputy general manager 

of Shenzhen Sang Da Electronics Corporation. From 1983 to 1987, he was the director of the Liaison Division of 

the office of Ministry of Electronics Industry in Shenzhen Economic Zone. Mr. Hua was also the chairman of Sang 

Fei from 1996 to 2008. Mr. Hua joined the Company in September 2004.
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inDepenDent non-eXeCutive DiReCtoRS

mr. Chan Kay Cheung, aged 62, is the vice chairman of The Bank of East Asia (China) Limited. Mr. Chan was an 

executive director and deputy chief executive of The Bank of East Asia, Limited. He joined the Bank in 1965 and 

possesses extensive knowledge and experience in the banking industry. Mr. Chan is a fellow member of the Hong 

Kong Institute of Bankers, advisory committee member on the Quality Migrant Admission Scheme of the Hong Kong 

Immigration Department and an international senior economic consultant of The People’s Government of Shaanxi 

Province. He is also an independent non-executive director of Chu Kong Shipping Development Company Limited, 

Four Seas Food Investment Holdings Limited and China Central Properties Limited. Mr. Chan was appointed director 

of the Company in May 1997.

mr. wong po yan, aged 85, is the founder of United Overseas Enterprises Limited. Mr. Wong was the vice chairman 

of the Basic Law Committee of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region under the standing committee of the PRC, 

member of the Drafting Committee of Basic Law, member of the Preparatory Committee of Hong Kong Special 

Administrative Region and the chairman of the Airport Authority. He had been a member of the Legislative Council 

for 9 years. He is also an independent non-executive director of Shenzhen Investment Limited, Allied Group Limited, 

FinTronics Holdings Company Limited, Sinopec Kantons Holdings Limited and Alco Holdings Limited. Mr. Wong was 

appointed director of the Company in May 1997.

mr. yin yongli, aged 69, graduated from Shandong Finance Institute in the PRC. Mr. Yin is a Certified Public 

Accountant in the PRC and has extensive experience in auditing and financial management. From 2005 to 2008, 

Mr. Yin was the chairman of Tianhua Certified Public Accountants. He was the chairman of China Rightson Certified 

Public Accountants and various audit firms in the PRC during the period from 1999 to 2005. Before that, Mr. Yin 

worked in the petrochemical industry in the PRC for over 35 years. From 1985 to 1999, he held various senior 

positions in the finance department of Sinopec Corporation. Mr.Yin is also an independent supervisor of Sinopec 

Shanghai Petrochemical Company Limited and an independent director of China Merchants Energy Shipping Co., 

Ltd. Mr. Yin was appointed director of the Company in September 2004.

SenioR management

mr. ng Kui Kwan, aged 47, is the Company Secretary of the Company. Mr. Ng holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in 

Accounting from the University of Liverpool in England. He is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants 

in England and Wales and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Ng has many 

years of experience in auditing, finance and administration. Mr. Ng joined the Company in November 2008.
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The directors submit their report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 

2008.

pRinCipal aCtivitieS anD geogRapHiCal analySiS oF 
opeRationS

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries 

(collectively the “Group”) comprise the manufacturing and sales of mobile handsets and other portable electronics 

products. The principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 8 to the financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by business and geographical segments is set out in Note 5 

to the financial statements.

ReSultS anD appRopRiationS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 32 of the annual 

report.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ended 31 December 2008 (2007: nil).

pRopeRty, plant anD eQuipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group and of the Company are set out in Note 

6 to the financial statements.

SHaRe Capital

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in Note 13 to the financial statements.

ReSeRveS

Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company during the year are set out in Note 14 to the financial 

statements.

DiStRiButaBle ReSeRveS

The Company had no distributable reserves as at 31 December 2008 as calculated under the law of Bermuda and 

the Company’s bye-laws (2007: HK$155,975,000).

Five yeaR FinanCial SummaRy

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on 

page 94 of the annual report.
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SHoRt-teRm loanS

Particular of the short-term loans of the Group are set out in Note 16 to the financial statements.

BoRRowing CoStS

No interest was capitalised by the Group during the year (2007: nil).

DiReCtoRS

The directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

non-executive Directors
Xiong Qunli (Chairman)

 (appointed on 21 January 2008)

Chen Zhaoxiong

 (resigned on 14 January 2008)

Tong Baoan (Vice Chairman)

executive Directors
Fan Qingwu (Managing Director)

Hua Longxing

independent non-executive Directors
Chan Kay Cheung

Wong Po Yan

Yin Yongli

In accordance with Bye-law 87(1), Messrs. Chan Kay Cheung and Wong Po Yan shall retire by rotation at the annual 

general meeting and, being eligible, Messrs. Chan Kay Cheung and Wong Po Yan offer themselves for re-election 

at the annual general meeting.

None of the directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract 

which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory 

compensation.

The Company has received confirmation from each of the independent non-executive directors as regards their 

independence to the Company, and considers them to be independent.

BiogRapHiCal DetailS oF DiReCtoRS

Brief biographies of the directors of the Company are set out on pages 16 to 17 of the annual report.
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DiReCtoRS’ anD CHieF eXeCutive’S inteReStS anD SHoRt 
poSitionS in SHaReS, unDeRlying SHaReS anD DeBentuReS

As at 31 December 2008, the interests and short positions of the directors and chief executive of the Company 
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the 
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register maintained by 
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors 
of Listed Issuers, were as follows:

long position in underlying shares of the Company

name of director Capacity

interest in

underlying shares

pursuant to

share options

total

interest

approximate

percentage 

of the issued 

share capital

of the Company

Tong Baoan Beneficial owner 2,280,000 2,280,000 0.21%

Fan Qingwu 

 (Managing Director) Beneficial owner 2,160,000 2,160,000 0.20%

Hua Longxing Beneficial owner 2,160,000 2,160,000 0.20%

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2008, none of the directors nor the chief executive of the Company 
and their respective associates had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures 
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were 
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified 
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of 
Listed Issuers.

SHaRe option SCHeme

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 20 June 2002, the Company adopted a new share option scheme 
(the “Share Option Scheme”) to replace the old share option scheme. According to the Share Option Scheme, the 
board of directors of the Company may grant options to any executive and non-executive directors of the Company, 
full time employees and part-time employees of the Group, advisors, consultants, distributors, suppliers, agents, 
customers, partners, joint venture partners, promoters and service providers to the Group. The purpose of the Share 
Option Scheme is to provide the participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company 
and to encourage participants to work towards enhancing the value of the Company.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted under the 
Share Option Scheme must not exceed 108,356,000 ordinary shares, representing 10% of the issued share capital 
as at the date of the annual report. The number of shares which might be issued upon exercise of all outstanding 
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes adopted 
by the Company must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time. 
The maximum entitlement of each participant in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the shares in issue 
from time to time. No share options were outstanding under the old share option scheme.
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SHaRe option SCHeme (Continued)

There was no requirement for a grantee to hold the option for a certain period before exercising the option unless 

otherwise determined by the directors. The exercise period should be any period determined by the board of directors 

but in any event the exercise period should not later than 10 years from the date of grant. The grantee must accept 

an option within 21 days from the date of offer by making a non-refundable payment of HK$1 to the Company.

The subscription price shall be at the discretion of the board of directors provided that it shall be not less than the 

highest of (i) the closing price of the shares on the date of grant; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the shares 

for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a share on the 

date of grant. The Share Option Scheme will remain in force until 19 June 2012.

During the year, no share options were granted under the Share Option Scheme.

As at 31 December 2008, the directors and the chief executive of the Company and employees of the Group had 

the following personal interests in options to subscribe for shares of the Company granted under the Share Option 

Scheme:

options

outstanding options

options

outstanding

name as at 1/1/2008 lapsed as at 31/12/2008

Directors

Tong Baoan 3,800,000 (1,520,000) 2,280,000

Fan Qingwu (Managing Director) 3,600,000 (1,440,000) 2,160,000

Hua Longxing 3,600,000 (1,440,000) 2,160,000

Sub-total 11,000,000 (4,400,000) 6,600,000

aggregate of employees

 and other participants 9,950,000 (5,480,000) 4,470,000

total 20,950,000 (9,880,000) 11,070,000

The outstanding options were all granted on 25 October 2005 under the Share Option Scheme. The options represent 

personal interest held by the grantees as beneficial owners. Grantees of such options are entitled to exercise the 

options at a price of HK$1.488 per share in the following periods:

(i) in respect of a 50% of the options stated above, from 1 November 2006 to 31 October 2009; and

(ii) in respect of the remaining 50% of the options stated above, from 1 November 2007 to 31 October 2010.

No options granted under the Share Option Scheme were exercised or cancelled during the year.
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DiReCtoRS’ RigHtS to aCQuiRe SHaReS oR DeBentuReS

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries 

or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the Company or their respective 

associates (as defined under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 

Limited (the “Listing Rules”)) to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company 

or any other body corporate.

DiReCtoRS’ inteReStS in ContRaCtS

No contracts of significance to which the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow 

subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, 

subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

ConneCteD tRanSaCtionS anD Continuing ConneCteD 
tRanSaCtionS

Details of the connected transactions and continuing connected transactions entered into by the Group during the 

year are set out below:

Connected transactions 

On 20 June 2008, the Company entered into an acquisition agreement (the “China Huada Agreement”) with China 

Huada Integrated Circuit Design (Group) Co., Ltd. (“China Huada”). Pursuant to the China Huada Agreement, 

the Company agreed to purchase a 64.75% equity interest in CEC Huada Electronic Design Co., Ltd. (“Huada 

Electronics”) at a consideration of HK$984.2 million (the “China Huada Acquisition”). On the same day, the Company 

also entered into acquisition agreements with Beijing Shoufa Xinan Data System Technology Company Limited 

and with eight individuals respectively to acquire all the remaining 35.25% equity interest in Huada Electronics at 

an aggregate consideration of HK$535.8 million. The aggregate consideration payable by the Company for the 

acquisition of Huada Electronics of HK$1,520 million shall be satisfied by the Company allotting and issuing an 

aggregate of 608,000,000 shares of the Company (“Consideration Share”), credited as fully paid, at an issue price 

of HK$2.50 per Consideration Share.

As China Huada is owned as to 50% by CEC, China Huada is a connected person of the Company and the entering 

into the China Huada Agreement constituted a connected transaction of the Company. The acquisition was approved 

by the shareholders of the Company at the special general meeting held on 21 July 2008. The PRC government and 

relevant regulatory authorities are in the course of approving the Company’s acquisition of Huada Electronics.
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Continuing connected transactions

amount

type of transaction Note HK$’000

Sales of products, samples and raw materials to the CEC Group i,ii 342,503

Purchases of raw materials from the CEC Group i,iii 91,929

After sales repair and maintenance services by the CEC Group i,iv 11,223

Provision of canteen services by the CEC Group i,v 13,917

Fitment and decoration services from the CEC Group i,vi –

Rental arrangements with the CEC Group vii 13,520

Processing arrangements with the CEC Group viii 9,136

Licence of trademark from the CEC Group ix 17,983

Comprehensive services from the CEC Group x 34,837

Notes:

(i) China Electronics Corporation (“CEC”, together with its subsidiaries, the “CEC Group”), is a connected person of the 
Company by virtue of being the controlling shareholder of the Company.

On 21 December 2006, Sang Fei, the Company’s operating subsidiary, entered into a supplemental business services 
agreement (the “Business Services Agreement”) with CEC to set out the framework for the ongoing business relationship 
between the Group and the CEC Group. Pursuant to the Business Services Agreement, the Group supplies products, 
samples and raw materials to the CEC Group and the CEC Group supplies raw materials and provides after sales repair 
and maintenance services, canteen services and renovation services to the Group. The Business Services Agreement was 
approved by the shareholders at the special general meeting held on 26 January 2007, details of which are set out in the 
circular dated 8 January 2007. The annual caps for the transactions contemplated under the Business Services Agreement 
(save for the annual cap for the provision of canteen services by the CEC Group) were subsequently revised and such 
revision of annual caps was approved by the shareholders at the special general meeting held on 14 September 2007, 
details of which are set out in the circular dated 29 August 2007.

(ii) Members of the CEC Group are major customers of the Group. Sales of products, samples and raw materials to the 
CEC Group were based on the Business Services Agreement and were carried out on normal commercial terms and with 
reference to market rates.

(iii) The Group from time to time purchases raw materials from members of the CEC Group. Purchases of raw materials from 
the CEC Group were based on the Business Services Agreement and the plastic supply agreement dated 3 March 2006 
(details of which were set out in the circular dated 31 March 2006) and were carried out on normal commercial terms 
and with reference to market rates. The plastic supply agreement was approved by the shareholders at the special general 
meeting held on 21 April 2006.

(iv) The Group engaged members of the CEC Group to provide after sales product repair and maintenance services in respect 
of its products. The repair and maintenance services were based on the Business Services Agreement and were carried out 
on normal commercial terms and with reference to market rates.

(v) A member of the CEC Group provides canteen services to the staff of the Group. The canteen services were based on 
the Business Services Agreement and the service fees were calculated by reference to actual consumption and an agreed 
fixed service fee. Such service fees were on normal commercial terms and with reference to market rates.

(vi) The Group engaged members of the CEC Group to undertake renovation works in connection with the expansion and 
improvement of the Group’s production premises. The fitment and decoration services were based on the Business Services 
Agreement and were on normal commercial terms and with reference to market rates.
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(vii) The production facilities and some of the staff quarters of the Group were located within an industrial complex owned 
by members of the CEC Group. These rentals arrangements were based on lease agreements entered into between the 
relevant members of the CEC Group and the Group (details of which were set out in the circular dated 21 June 2004). Such 
transactions were approved by the shareholders at the special general meeting held on 14 July 2004. The Group leased 
additional factory and office premises for its operation from a member of CEC Group pursuant to a tenancy agreement 
dated 9 April 2008, details of which were set out in the announcement dated 9 April 2008. The abovementioned rental 
arrangements were carried out on normal commercial terms and with reference to open market rent of comparable 
properties.

(viii) The Group secured dedicated processing services of surface mount assembly production lines from members of the CEC 
Group. The processing services were based on the supplemental processing agreement dated 21 December 2006 and 
were carried out on normal commercial terms and with reference to market rates. Such transactions were approved by the 
shareholders at the special general meeting held on 26 January 2007, details of which were set out in the circular dated 
8 January 2007.

(ix) Members of the CEC Group licensed the Xenium trademark to the Group under the licence agreement dated 8 August 
2007. Such transaction was carried out on normal commercial terms and with reference to market rates. Such transactions 
were approved by the shareholders at the special general meeting held on 14 September 2007 and details of which were 
set out in the circular dated 29 August 2007.

(x) The Group engaged members of the CEC Group to provide various business support services in relation to sales of 
products based on the comprehensive services agreements dated 8 August 2007. Such transactions were carried out on 
normal commercial terms and the service charges shall be the actual costs incurred by members of the CEC Group for the 
provision of such services. Such transactions were approved by the shareholders at the special general meeting held on 
14 September 2007 and details of which were set out in the circular dated 29 August 2007.

On 20 September 2007, Sang Fei entered into a deposit services agreement with CEC Finance, a subsidiary of CEC, pursuant to 

which Sang Fei will utilise the deposit services offered by CEC Finance. The interest rate for Sang Fei’s deposits with CEC Finance 

shall be the standard rates promulgated by the People’s Bank of China for the same type of deposits and shall not be less than 

the rates offered to Sang Fei by normal commercial banks in the PRC for comparable deposits. The maximum balance of deposits 

(including the interests accrued thereon) maintained by the Group with CEC Finance shall not exceed RMB30 million on any given 

day and the Company’s actual balance of deposits with CEC Finance has not exceeded such amount.

In the opinion of the independent non-executive directors of the Company, the above transactions were carried out 

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, on normal commercial terms and were in accordance 

with the relevant agreements governing them and on terms that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of 

the Group and the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Based on the result of agreed upon procedures performed, the auditors have confirmed that:

•	 the	above	transactions	had	been	approved	by	the	board	of	directors	of	the	Company;

•	 the	selected	transactions	were	in	accordance	with	the	pricing	policies	of	the	Group;

•	 the	selected	transactions	were	entered	into	in	accordance	with	the	terms	of	the	relevant	agreements	governing	

such transactions; and

•	 the	 above	 transactions	 had	 not	 exceeded	 their	 respective	 caps	 as	 described	 in	 previous	 circulars	 and	

announcements and approved by the Stock Exchange.
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DiReCtoRS’ inteReStS in Competing BuSineSS

During the year and up to the date of this report, the following directors of the Company are considered to have 
interests in businesses which compete or are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of 
the Group:

name of director name of entity

principal business 

of the entity

nature of

director’s interest

in the entity

Xiong Qunli CEC (Note a) Investment holdings Chairman

Tong Baoan (Note b) CEC (Note a) Investment holdings Director

Notes:

(a) CEC is the controlling shareholder of the Company. CEC is a state-owned nationwide electronics and information technology 

conglomerate, and has subsidiaries and associates engaged in mobile handset related businesses which compete or are 

likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

(b) Mr. Tong Baoan has ceased to be a director of CEC in April 2008.

The above mentioned competing businesses are operated and managed by independent management and 
administration. In addition, the directors of the Company consider that the business model of and markets served 
by the Group are different from those of the abovementioned competing businesses. The board of the Company 
exercises independent judgment and is always acting for the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a 
whole. Accordingly, the Group is capable of carrying on its business independently of, and at arm’s length from, 
the competing businesses mentioned above.

SuBStantial SHaReHolDeRS

As at 31 December 2008, the register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 
336 of the SFO showed that the following shareholders had notified the Company of their relevant interests in the 
shares or underlying shares of the Company:

name of shareholder

number of

shares held

percentage

of shareholding

China Electronics Corporation (BVI) Holdings 

 Company Limited (“CEC (BVI)”) 812,500,000 74.98%

China Huada (Note 2) 393,680,000 36.33%

CEC (Notes 1 and 2) 1,206,180,000 111.32%

SDIC High-Tech Investment Co., Ltd. (Note 2) 393,680,000 36.33%

The State Development and Investment Corporation (Note 2) 393,680,000 36.33%

Devon Fortune Limited (“Devon Fortune”) 71,129,358 6.56%

Chan Chak Shing (“Mr. Chan”) (Note 3) 75,254,358 6.95%

Wang Qinsheng (Note 4) 55,733,840 5.14%
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SuBStantial SHaReHolDeRS (Continued)

Notes:

(1) CEC holds 100% interest in CEC (BVI) and is deemed to be interested in the shares held by CEC (BVI). The directors 

regard CEC, a state-owned enterprise established under the law of the PRC, as being the ultimate holding company of 

the Group.

(2) On 20 June 2008, the Company entered into the China Huada Agreement with China Huada in relation to the acquisition 

of 64.75% equity interest in Huada Electronics for a consideration of HK$984.2 million which shall be satisfied by the 

Company allotting and issuing 393,680,000 Consideration Shares at an issue price of HK$2.50 per Consideration Share.

The equity interest of China Huada is contributed as to 50% by CEC and as to 50% by SDIC High-Tech Investment 

Co., Ltd. SDIC High-Tech Investment Co., Ltd. is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The State Development and Investment 

Corporation, which is a state-owned investment holding company established under the law of the PRC. By virtue of the 

SFO, CEC, SDIC High-Tech Investment Co., Ltd. and The State Development and Investment Corporation are deemed to 

be interested in the 393,680,000 Consideration Shares (to be allotted and issued upon completion of the China Huada 

Acquisition) which China Huada is interested in.

(3) These 75,254,358 shares represent the aggregate of: (i) the family interest of Mr. Chan of 4,125,000 shares and (ii) the 

corporate interest of 71,129,358 shares held by Devon Fortune. As Mr. Chan holds 100% interest in Devon Fortune, Mr. 

Chan is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Devon Fortune.

(4) On 20 June 2008, the Company entered into an acquisition agreement with, among others, Ms. Wang Qinsheng, pursuant 

to which the Company agreed to purchase from Ms. Wang Qinsheng a 9.1668% equity interest in Huada Electronics for a 

consideration of HK$139,334,600 which shall be satisfied by the Company allotting and issuing 55,733,840 Consideration 

Shares at an issue price of HK$2.50 per Consideration Share.

All the interests disclosed above represent long position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2008, no person or corporation had any interest or short position in 

the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 

of the SFO.

pRe-emptive RigHtS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws or the laws in Bermuda.

puRCHaSe, Sale oR ReDemption oF SeCuRitieS

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased or sold any of the Company’s shares and the Company 

has not redeemed any of its shares during the year.
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majoR SupplieRS anD CuStomeRS

During the year, the percentages of sales for the year attributable to the Group’s major customers are as follows:

Sales

– the largest customer 18%

– five largest customers combined 51%

The percentages of purchases for the year attributable to the Group’s major suppliers are as follows:

purchases

– the largest supplier 9%

– five largest suppliers combined 30%

CEC Group is the beneficial owner of two of the five largest customers and one of the five largest suppliers of 

the Group. Details of the transactions are set out in the section headed “Connected Transactions and Continuing 

Connected Transactions” above.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors, their respective associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge 

of the directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major customers or 

suppliers noted above.

SuFFiCienCy oF puBliC Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the directors of 

the Company, as at the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed minimum public 

float under the Listing Rules.

auDit Committee

The audit committee comprises Messrs. Chan Kay Cheung, Wong Po Yan and Yin Yongli, who are independent non-

executive directors. The audit committee examined the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group 

and discussed with management its internal controls and financial statements. The audit committee has reviewed the 

unaudited interim financial statements for the six months ended 30 June 2008 and the audited financial statements 

of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2008.

auDitoRS

The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offer 

themselves for reappointment.

On behalf of the Board

Xiong Qunli

Chairman

Hong Kong, 14 April 2009
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Independent Auditor’s Report

inDepenDent auDitoR’S RepoRt to tHe SHaReHolDeRS oF

CHina eleCtRoniCS CoRpoRation HolDingS Company limiteD

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Electronics Corporation Holdings Company Limited 

(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 30 to 93, which comprise the 

consolidated and company balance sheets as at 31 December 2008, and the consolidated income statement, the 

consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, 

and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DiReCtoRS’ ReSponSiBility FoR tHe FinanCial StatementS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair presentation of these 

consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong 

Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the 

preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting 

estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

auDitoR’S ReSponSiBility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit and to 

report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda 

and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the 

contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute 

of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from material 

misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 

material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 

the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the 

financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 

the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 

evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 

by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion.

opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company 

and of the Group as at 31 December 2008 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended in 

accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with 

the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

pricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 14 April 2009
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as at 31 December
2008 2007

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

aSSetS
non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 6 47,125 41,047
Intangible assets 7 15,686 16,144
Deferred income tax assets 23(e) 49,238 46,691

112,049 103,882

Current assets
Inventories 9 468,287 444,189
Trade and other receivables 10 485,760 877,150
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 11 1,271 –
Cash and cash equivalents 12 343,129 391,741

1,298,447 1,713,080

total assets 1,410,496 1,816,962

eQuity
Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders
 of the Company
Issued equity 13 370,074 370,074
Other reserves 14 77,756 71,807
(Accumulated losses)/Retained earnings (185,324) 29,889

262,506 471,770

minority interests in equity 21,102 129,066

total equity 283,608 600,836

liaBilitieS
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 15 633,060 741,030
Current income tax liabilities – 3,725
Borrowings 16 450,813 394,111
Provision for warranty 17 43,015 77,260

total liabilities 1,126,888 1,216,126

total equity and liabilities 1,410,496 1,816,962

net current assets 171,559 496,954

total assets less current liabilities 283,608 600,836

The notes on pages 35 to 93 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Xiong Qunli Fan Qingwu
Director Director
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as at 31 December

2008 2007

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

aSSetS

non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 6 587 758

Investments in subsidiaries 8 11,700 271,700

12,287 272,458

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 10 589 918

Cash and cash equivalents 12 215,870 222,546

216,459 223,464

total assets 228,746 495,922

eQuity

Capital and reserves

Share capital 13 335,891 335,891

Other reserves 14 68,813 73,635

(Accumulated losses)/Retained earnings (181,486) 82,340

total equity 223,218 491,866

liaBilitieS

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 15 5,528 4,056

total equity and liabilities 228,746 495,922

net current assets 210,931 219,408

total assets less current liabilities 223,218 491,866

The notes on pages 35 to 93 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Xiong Qunli Fan Qingwu

Director Director



China Electronics Corporation Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 200832

Consolidated Income Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2008

year ended 31 December

2008 2007

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 5 2,267,343 3,167,708

Cost of sales 19 (1,827,268) (2,608,047)

gross profit 440,075 559,661

Other (losses)/gains – net 18 (108,461) 4,751

Selling and marketing costs 19 (325,926) (259,104)

Administrative expenses 19 (314,776) (326,792)

operating loss (309,088) (21,484)

Finance income 9,234 11,442

Finance costs (33,605) (9,075)

Finance (costs)/income – net 22 (24,371) 2,367

loss before income tax (333,459) (19,117)

Income tax credit 23 – 31,640

(loss)/profit for the year (333,459) 12,523

attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 24 (220,035) 8,074

Minority interests (113,424) 4,449

(333,459) 12,523

(loss)/earnings per share for (loss)/profit attributable

 to the equity holders of the Company during the year

 (expressed in HK cents per share)

 – basic 25 (20.31) 0.75

 – diluted 25 (20.31) 0.74

Dividends 26 – –

The notes on pages 35 to 93 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2008

attributable to equity holders

of the Company

issued

 equity

other

 reserves

Retained

 earnings/

(accumulated

losses) total

minority

 interests

total

 equity

(Note 13) (Note 14)

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at 1 january 2007 370,074 55,137 39,152 464,363 138,775 603,138

Dividends related to 2006 – – (17,337) (17,337) (21,748) (39,085)

Share options granted – 1,737 – 1,737 – 1,737

Currency translation differences – 14,933 – 14,933 7,590 22,523

Profit for the year – – 8,074 8,074 4,449 12,523

Balance at 31 December 2007 370,074 71,807 29,889 471,770 129,066 600,836

Balance at 1 january 2008 370,074 71,807 29,889 471,770 129,066 600,836

Share options lapsed – (4,822) 4,822 – – –

Currency translation differences – 10,771 – 10,771 5,460 16,231

Loss for the year – – (220,035) (220,035) (113,424) (333,459)

Balance at 31 December 2008 370,074 77,756 (185,324) 262,506 21,102 283,608

The notes on pages 35 to 93 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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year ended 31 December

2008 2007

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash used in operations 27 (38,487) (362,808)

Interest paid (33,605) (8,257)

Income tax paid (3,725) (4,454)

Net cash used in operating activities (75,817) (375,519)

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 9,234 11,216

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (39,149) (19,931)

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 418 1,140

Net cash used in investing activities (29,497) (7,575)

Cash flows from financing activities

Dividend paid to the Company’s shareholders – (17,337)

Dividend paid to minority interests – (21,748)

Proceeds from bank loans 1,500,905 1,387,440

Repayment of bank loans borrowed (1,444,203) (993,329)

Net cash generated from financing activities 56,702 355,026

net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (48,612) (28,068)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 391,741 419,809

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 12 343,129 391,741

The notes on page 35 to 93 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2008

1. geneRal inFoRmation

China Electronics Corporation Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman 

Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited liability. The Company has its shares listed on The Stock 

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) comprise the 

manufacturing and sale of mobile handsets and other portable electronics products.

The address of the Company’s registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, 

Bermuda.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar (HK$), unless otherwise stated. 

These consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 14 April 

2009.

2. SummaRy oF SigniFiCant aCCounting poliCieS

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are 

set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise 

stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with Hong 

Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants (“HKICPA”). The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the 

historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of financial assets and liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical 

accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying 

the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or 

areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are 

disclosed in Note 4.
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2. SummaRy oF SigniFiCant aCCounting poliCieS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a) Going concern basis

The Group incurred losses attributable to the equity holders of the Company of HK$220,035,000 

for the year ended 31 December 2008 and had accumulated losses of HK$185,324,000 as at 31 

December 2008. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the directors have adopted the going concern 

basis in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements based on the following:

– In March 2009, the ultimate holding company, China Electronics Corporation (“CEC”), has 

agreed to provide financial assistance of RMB500,000,000 (equivalent to approximately 

HK$566,958,000) to Shenzhen Sang Fei Consumer Communications Company Limited 

(“Sang Fei”), a principal subsidiary of the Group. The financial assistance includes  

(i) guarantees of RMB400,000,000 granted to Sang Fei for obtaining short-term bank 

loans and (ii) financing facilities of up to RMB100,000,000 provided by CEC. Up to the 

date of this report, Sang Fei has utilised the guarantees from CEC to obtain banking 

facilities of RMB380,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$430,888,000) and will 

utilise the remaining financial assistance of RMB120,000,000 to meet the future working 

capital and financial requirements of Sang Fei;

– As at 31 December 2008, the Group had bank borrowings of HK$450,813,000 which 

the Group used to finance its day-to-day working capital requirements. These bank 

borrowings are due for repayment in 2009. Subsequent to the balance sheet date and 

up to 31 March 2009, bank borrowings of HK$348,755,000 have already been repaid. 

With the bank borrowings subsequently obtained and the financial assistance provided 

by CEC as mentioned in the paragraph above, the directors are of the opinion that the 

Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its operations and remain as a 

going concern; and

– Management have implemented stringent cost control measures, as well as new business 

strategies to improve profitability and cashflows.

In the opinion of the directors, in light of the above, the Group will have sufficient working 

capital to finance its operations and remain as a going concern in the foreseeable future. 

Accordingly, the directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial 

statements on a going concern basis.
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2. SummaRy oF SigniFiCant aCCounting poliCieS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) Amendments and interpretations effective in 2008

The HKAS 39, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”, amendment on 

reclassification of financial assets permits reclassification of certain financial assets out of the 

held-for-trading and available-for-sale categories if specified conditions are met. The related 

amendment to HKFRS 7, “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”, introduces disclosure requirements 

with respect to financial assets reclassified out of the held-for-trading and available-for-sale 

categories. The amendment is effective prospectively from 1 July 2008. This amendment does 

not have any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements, as the Group has not 

reclassified any financial assets.

HK(IFRIC) – Int 11, “HKFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions”, provides guidance 

on whether share-based transactions involving treasury shares or involving group entities (for 

example, options over a parent’s shares) should be accounted for as equity-settled or cash-

settled share-based payment transactions in the stand-alone accounts of the parent and group 

companies. This interpretation does not have any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial 

statements.

(c) Interpretations effective in 2008 but not relevant

The following interpretation to published standards is mandatory for accounting periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2008 but is not relevant to the Group’s operations:

– HK(IFRIC) – Int 12, “Service Concession Arrangements”

– HK(IFRIC) – Int 14, “HKAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding 

Requirements and their Interaction”
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2. SummaRy oF SigniFiCant aCCounting poliCieS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(d) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards 
that are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the 
Group

The following standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been 

published and are mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2009 or later periods, but the Group has not early adopted them:

HKAS 1 (Revised), “Presentation of Financial Statements” (effective from 1 January 2009). The 

revised standard will prohibit the presentation of items of income and expenses (that is, “non-

owner changes in equity”) in the statement of changes in equity, requiring “non-owner changes 

in equity” to be presented separately from owner changes in equity. All non-owner changes 

in equity will be required to be shown in a performance statement, but entities can choose 

whether to present one performance statement (the statement of comprehensive income) or 

two statements (the consolidated income statement and statement of comprehensive income). 

Where entities restate or reclassify comparative information, they will be required to present 

a restated balance sheet as at the beginning comparative period in addition to the current 

requirement to present balance sheets at the end of the current period and comparative period. 

The Group will apply HKAS 1 (Revised) from 1 January 2009.

HKAS 23 (Revised), “Borrowing Costs” (effective from 1 January 2009). The amendment requires 

an entity to capitalise borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 

production of a qualifying asset (one that takes a substantial period of time to get ready for use 

or sale) as part of the cost of that asset. The option of immediately expensing those borrowing 

costs will be removed. The Group will apply HKAS 23 (Revised) retrospectively from 1 January 

2009 but it is not expected to have any material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial 

statements.

HKAS 27 (Revised), “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” (effective from 1 July 

2009). The revised standard requires the effects of all transactions with non-controlling interests 

(i.e. minority interests) to be recorded in equity if there is no change in control and these 

transactions will no longer result in goodwill or gains and losses. The standard also specifies 

the accounting when control is lost. Any remaining interest in the entity is re-measured to fair 

value and a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. The Group will apply HKAS 27 (Revised) 

prospectively from 1 January 2010 but it is not expected to have any material impact on the 

Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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2. SummaRy oF SigniFiCant aCCounting poliCieS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(d) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards 
that are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the 
Group (Continued)

HKAS 32 (Amendment), “Financial Instruments: Presentation”, and HKAS 1 (Amendment), 

“Presentation of Financial Statements” – “Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising 

on Liquidation” (effective from 1 January 2009). The amended standards require entities to 

classify puttable financial instruments and instruments, or components of instruments that 

impose on the entity an obligation to deliver to another party a pro rata share of the net assets 

of the entity only on liquidation as equity, provided the financial instruments have particular 

features and meet specific conditions. The Group will apply the HKAS 32 (Amendment) and 

HKAS 1(Amendment) from 1 January 2009, but it is not expected to have any impact on the 

Group’s consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 1 (Amendment), “First-time Adoption of HKFRS” and HKAS 27 “Consolidated and 

Separate Financial Statements” (effective from 1 July 2009). The amended standard allows 

first-time adopters to use a deemed cost of either fair value or the carrying amount under 

previous accounting practice to measure the initial cost of investments in subsidiaries, jointly 

controlled entities and associates in the separate financial statements. The amendment also 

removes the definition of the cost method from HKAS 27 and replaces it with a requirement to 

present dividends as income in the separate financial statements of the investor. The Company 

will apply HKAS 27 (Amendment) prospectively from 1 January 2010 in its separate financial 

statements. This amendment is not relevant to the Group.

HKFRS 2 (Amendment), “Share-based Payment” (effective from 1 January 2009). The amended 

standard deals with vesting conditions and cancellations. It clarifies that vesting conditions are 

service conditions and performance conditions only. Other features of a share-based payment 

are not vesting conditions. As such these features would need to be included in the grant 

date fair value for transactions with employees and others providing similar services, that is, 

these features would not impact the number of awards expected to vest or valuation thereof 

subsequent to grant date. All cancellations, whether by the entity or by other parties, should 

receive the same accounting treatment. The Group will apply HKFRS 2 (Amendment) from 1 

January 2009, but it is not expected to have any material impact on the Group’s consolidated 

financial statements.
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2. SummaRy oF SigniFiCant aCCounting poliCieS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(d) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards 
that are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the 
Group (Continued)

HKFRS 3 (Revised), “Business Combinations” (effective from 1 July 2009). The revised standard 

continues to apply the acquisition method to business combinations, with some significant 

changes. For example, all payments to purchase a business are to be recorded at fair value at 

the acquisition date, with contingent payments classified as debt subsequently re-measured 

through the consolidated income statement. There is a choice on an acquisition by acquisition 

basis to measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-

controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets. All acquisition-related 

costs should be expensed. The Group will apply HKFRS 3 (Revised) prospectively to all business 

combinations from 1 January 2010.

HKFRS 8, “Operating Segments” (effective from 1 January 2009). HKFRS 8 replaces HKAS 14. 

The new standard requires a “management approach”, under which segment information 

is presented on the same basis as that used for internal reporting purposes. The Group will 

apply HKFRS 8 from 1 January 2009. The expected impact is still being assessed in detail by 

management.

HK(IFRIC) – Int 16, “Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation” (effective from 1 

October 2008). HK(IFRIC) – Int 16 clarifies the accounting treatment in respect of net investment 

hedging. This includes the fact that net investment hedging relates to differences in functional 

currency not presentation currency, and hedging instruments may be held anywhere in the 

Group. The requirements of HKAS 21, “The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates”, do 

apply to the hedged item. The Group will apply HK(IFRIC) – Int 16 from 1 January 2009. It is 

not expected to have any material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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2. SummaRy oF SigniFiCant aCCounting poliCieS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(d) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards 
that are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the 
Group (Continued)

HKICPA’s improvements to HKFRS published in October 2008:

In October 2008, HKICPA published its annual improvements to HKFRS to clarify some 

accounting treatments/disclosure requirements under new/revised HKFRS and eliminate 

inconsistence. Management do not expect these amendments have any material impact on the 

Group’s consolidated financial statements.

– HKAS 1 (Amendment), “Presentation of Financial Statements” (effective from 1 January 

2009).

– HKAS 19 (Amendment), “Employee Benefits” (effective from 1 January 2009).

– HKAS 23 (Amendment), “Borrowing Costs” (effective from 1 January 2009).

– HKAS 28 (Amendment), “Investments in Associates” (and consequential amendments 

to HKAS 32, “Financial Instruments: Presentation” and HKFRS 7, “Financial Instruments: 

Disclosures”) (effective from 1 January 2009).

– HKAS 36 (Amendment), “Impairment of Assets” (effective from 1 January 2009).

– HKAS 38 (Amendment), “Intangible Assets” (effective from 1 January 2009).

– HKAS 39 (Amendment), “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” 

(effective from 1 January 2009).

– HKFRS 5 (Amendment), “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” 

(and consequential amendment to HKFRS 1, “First-time Adoption of HKFRS”) (effective 

from 1 July 2009).

– There are a number of minor amendments to HKFRS 7, “Financial Instruments: 

Disclosures”, HKAS 8, “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and 

Errors”, HKAS 10, “Events after the Balance Sheet Date”, HKAS 18, “Revenue” 

and HKAS 34, “Interim Financial Reporting” which are not addressed above. These 

amendments are unlikely to have any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial 

statements and have therefore not been analysed in detail.
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2. SummaRy oF SigniFiCant aCCounting poliCieS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(e) Interpretations and amendments to existing standards that are 
not yet effective and not relevant for the Group’s operations

The following interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been published and 

are mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 or 

later periods but are not relevant for the Group’s operations:

HKAS 39 (Amendment) “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” – “Eligible 

Hedged Items” (effective from 1 July 2009).

HK(IFRIC) – Int 13, “Customer Loyalty Programmes” (effective from 1 July 2008).

HK(IFRIC) – Int 15, “Agreements for Construction of Real Estates” (effective from 1 January 

2009), supercedes HK Int-3, “Revenue – Pre-completion Contracts for the Sale of Development 

Properties”.

HK(IFRIC) – Int 17 – “Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners” (effective from 1 July 

2009).

HKICPA’s improvements to HKFRS published in October 2008:

– HKAS 16 (Amendment), “Property, Plant and Equipment” (and consequential amendment 

to HKAS 7, “Cash Flows Statements”) (effective from 1 January 2009).

– HKAS 20 (Amendment), “Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of 

Government Assistance” (effective from 1 January 2009).

– HKAS 27 (Amendment), “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” (effective 

from 1 January 2009).

– HKAS 28 (Amendment), “Investments in Associates” (and consequential amendments 

to HKAS 32, “Financial Instruments: Presentation” and HKFRS 7, “Financial Instruments: 

Disclosures”) (effective from 1 January 2009).

– HKAS 29 (Amendment), “Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies” (effective 

from 1 January 2009).

– HKAS 31 (Amendment), “Interests in Joint Ventures” (and consequential amendments 

to HKAS 32 and HKFRS 7) (effective from 1 January 2009).
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2. SummaRy oF SigniFiCant aCCounting poliCieS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(e) Interpretations and amendments to existing standards that are 
not yet effective and not relevant for the Group’s operations 
(Continued)

HKICPA’s improvements to HKFRS published in October 2008: (Continued)

– HKAS 38 (Amendment), “Intangible Assets” (effective from 1 January 2009).

– HKAS 40 (Amendment), “Investment Property” (and consequential amendments to HKAS 

16) (effective from 1 January 2009).

– HKAS 41 (Amendment), “Agriculture” (effective from 1 January 2009).

– The minor amendments to HKAS 20 “Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure 

of Government Assistance”, HKAS 29, “Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary 

Economies”, HKAS 40, “Investment Property” and HKAS 41, “Agriculture”, which 

are not addressed above. These amendments will not have any impact on the Group’s 

operations as described above.

2.2 Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and all its 

subsidiaries made up to 31 December.

(a) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has the 

power to govern the financial and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding 

of more than one half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights 

that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group 

controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is 

transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by 

the Group. The cost of an acquisition is measured at the fair value of the assets given, equity 

instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly 

attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities 

assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition 

date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition 

over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as 

goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary 

acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the consolidated income statement.
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2. SummaRy oF SigniFiCant aCCounting poliCieS (Continued)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group 

companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated. Accounting policies of 

subsidiaries have been changed where necessary in the consolidated financial statements to 

ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s balance sheet the investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less provision 

for impairment losses (Note 2.7). The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company 

on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

(b) Transactions with minority interests

The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with minority interests as transactions with 

equity owners of the Group. For purchases from minority interests, the difference between 

any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of 

the subsidiary is equity. Gains or losses on disposals to minority interests are also recorded in 

equity.

2.3 Segment reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services 

that are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments. A 

geographical segment is engaged in providing products or services within a particular economic 

environment that are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of segments operating 

in other economic environments.

2.4 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using 

the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional 

currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which 

is the Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation currency.
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2. SummaRy oF SigniFiCant aCCounting poliCieS (Continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange 

rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are remeasured. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from 

the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 

foreign currencies are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are 

presented in the consolidated income statement within “finance income or cost”. All other 

foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the consolidated income statement within 

“other (losses)/gains – net”.

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities (none of which has the currency of 

a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation 

currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

– assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate 

at the date of that balance sheet;

– income and expenses for each consolidated income statement are translated at average 

exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative 

effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and 

expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and

– all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in 

foreign entities, and of borrowings are taken to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation 

is partially disposed of or sold, such exchange differences that were recorded in equity are 

recognised in the consolidated income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.
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2. SummaRy oF SigniFiCant aCCounting poliCieS (Continued)

2.5 property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation and impairment losses. 

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Cost 

may also include transfers from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign 

currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 

appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow 

to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced 

part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged in the consolidated income 

statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to write off the cost of each item of property, 

plant and equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal estimate useful 

life used for these purposes are as follows:

– Leasehold improvements 5 years (or over the lease term, whichever is shorter)

– Plant and machinery 3-4 years

– Motor vehicles 5 years

– Furniture and fixtures 3-5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance 

sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s 

carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.7).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount 

and are recognised within “other (losses)/gains – net”, in the consolidated income statement.

2.6 intangible assets

(a) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s 

share of the net identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition. 

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill is tested 

annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment 

losses on goodwill are not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the 

carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The 

allocation is made to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are 

expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose.
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2. SummaRy oF SigniFiCant aCCounting poliCieS (Continued)

2.6 intangible assets (Continued)

(a) Goodwill (Continued)

If the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary 

at the date of acquisition exceeds the cost of acquisition, the excess should be recognised 

immediately in the consolidated income statement.

(b) Computer software

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense 

as incurred. Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of 

identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Group are recognised as intangible 

assets when the following criteria are met:

– it is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for 

use;

– management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it;

– there is an ability to use or sell the software product;

– it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future 

economic benefits;

– adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to 

use or sell the software product are available; and

– the expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be 

reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software product include the 

software development employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense 

as incurred. Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an 

asset in a subsequent period.

Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised over their estimated 

useful lives, which does not exceed five years.



China Electronics Corporation Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 200848

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2008

2. SummaRy oF SigniFiCant aCCounting poliCieS (Continued)

2.7 impairment of investments in subsidiaries and non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example goodwill, are not subject to amortisation and 

are tested annually for impairment. Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes 

in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is 

recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For 

the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 

separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that 

suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

2.8 Financial assets

2.8.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit 

or loss, loans and receivable and available-for-sale. The classification depends on the purpose 

for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its 

financial assets at initial recognition.

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. 

A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of 

selling in the short term. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they 

are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current assets.

(b) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 

payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, 

except for maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date. These are 

classified as non-current assets. The Group’s loans and receivables comprise “trade and 

other receivables” and “cash and cash equivalents” in the balance sheet (Notes 2.11 

and 2.12).

(c) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this 

category or not classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non-current 

assets unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of 

the balance sheet date. During the year, the Group did not hold any investments in 

this category.
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2. SummaRy oF SigniFiCant aCCounting poliCieS (Continued)

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)

2.8.2 Recognition and measurement

Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade-date – the date on which 

the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair 

value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or 

loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair 

value and transaction costs are expensed in the consolidated income statement. Financial assets 

are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired 

or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of 

ownership. Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables are carried at amortised 

cost using the effective interest method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the “financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss” category are presented in the consolidated income statement within 

“other (losses)/gains – net”, in the period in which they arise. Dividend income from financial 

assets at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement 

as part of other income when the Group’s right to receive payments is established.

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a 

financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. Impairment testing of trade receivables 

is described in Note 2.11.

2.9 Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and 

are subsequently remeasured at their fair value. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss 

depends on whether the derivative is designed as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the 

item being hedged. The Group’s derivative instruments do not qualify for hedging accounting and 

are accounted for at fair value through profit or loss. Changes in the fair value of these derivative 

instruments are recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement within “other (losses)/

gains – net”.

2.10 inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the 

first-in, first-out method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises design costs, 

raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal 

operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 

the ordinary course of business, less applicable selling expenses.
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2. SummaRy oF SigniFiCant aCCounting poliCieS (Continued)

2.11 trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at 

amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. A provision for 

impairment of trade and other receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the 

Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. 

Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or 

financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments are considered indicators that the 

trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying 

amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective 

interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, 

and the amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement within administrative 

expenses. When the receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for 

receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against administrative 

expenses in the consolidated income statement.

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term 

highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank 

overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

2.13 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new 

shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.14 trade payables

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 

the effective interest method.
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2. SummaRy oF SigniFiCant aCCounting poliCieS (Continued)

2.15 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 

subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) 

and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings 

using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the 

extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is 

deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some 

or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services 

and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 

settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

2.16 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated 

income statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity. In this 

case, the tax is also recognised in equity.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively 

enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and 

generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect 

to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions 

where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 

between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial 

statements. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition 

of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the 

transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined 

using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date 

and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred 

income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit 

will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, 

except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it 

is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2. SummaRy oF SigniFiCant aCCounting poliCieS (Continued)

2.17 provision

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 

past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and 

the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in 

settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised 

even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of 

obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of expenditures expected to be required to settle the 

obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 

the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised 

as interest expense.

The Group recognises a provision for repair or replacement of products still under warranty at the 

balance sheet date. This provision is calculated based on past history of the level of repairs and 

replacements.

2.18 operating leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor 

are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received 

from the lessor) are charged to the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the 

period of the lease.

2.19 Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existent will only 

be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly 

within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past events that is 

not recognised because it is not probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the 

amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the accounts. When a change 

in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be recognised as 

a provision.
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2. SummaRy oF SigniFiCant aCCounting poliCieS (Continued)

2.20 Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled 

by, or is under common control with, the Group; (ii) has an interest in the Group that gives it 

significant influence over the Group; or (iii) has joint control over the Group;

(b) the party is an associate;

(c) the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(d) the party is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or its parent;

(e) the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (a) or (d); or

(f) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by or for 

which significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual 

referred to in (d) or (e).

2.21 employee benefits

(a) Pension obligations

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF”) for the eligible employees 

in Hong Kong. The Group’s contributions to MPF are set at 5% of employees’ salaries and are 

expensed as incurred.

The Group’s subsidiaries operating in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) have to make 

contribution to staff retirement scheme managed by local government authorities in accordance 

with the relevant rules and regulations. Contributions to these schemes are charged to the 

income statement as and when incurred.

(b) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A 

provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by 

employees up to the balance sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of 

leave.
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2. SummaRy oF SigniFiCant aCCounting poliCieS (Continued)

2.21 employee benefits (Continued)

(c) Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonus payments are recognised as a liability when the Group has a present 

legal or constructive obligation as a result of services rendered by employees and a reliable 

estimate of the obligation can be made.

Liabilities for profit sharing and bonus plans are expected to be settled within 12 months and 

are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when they are settled.

(d) Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan. The fair value of the 

employee services received in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an expense. 

The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the options 

granted, excluding the impact of any non-market service and performance vesting conditions. 

Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that 

are expected to vest. The total amount expensed is recognised over the vesting period, which is 

the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At each balance 

sheet date, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest. 

It recognises the impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, in the consolidated income 

statement, and a corresponding adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share 

capital (nominal value) and share premium when the options are exercised.

2.22 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods, net 

of value-added tax, returns, rebates and discounts. Revenue is recognised when the goods are delivered 

to customers, the customers has accepted the goods and collectability of the related receivables is 

reasonably assured.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method. When 

a receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being 

the estimated future cash flow discounted at original effective interest rate of the instrument, and 

continues unwinding the discount as interest income.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

2.23 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial 

statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders.
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3. FinanCial RiSK management

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign exchange risk, credit risk, liquidity 

risk and cash flow and fair value interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme 

focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects 

on the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Foreign exchange risk

The foreign exchange risks of the Group occur due to the fact that the Group has business 

activities denominated in foreign currencies, primarily with respect to the United States dollar 

(“US dollar”), Renminbi (“RMB”), Euro, Russian Ruble (“RUR”) and New Turkish Lira (“TRY”). 

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and 

liabilities. Nevertheless, the conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the rules 

and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

To manage their foreign exchange risk arising from future commercial transactions and 

recognised assets and liabilities, the Group use forward contracts to hedge anticipated cash 

flows in major foreign currencies.

At 31 December 2008, if RMB had strengthened/weakened by 5% against US dollar with all 

other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been HK$1,600,000 

lower/higher (2007: HK$3,678,000 higher/lower), mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains 

or losses on translation of US dollar denominated trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents 

and financial liabilities.

At 31 December 2008, if RMB had strengthened/weakened by 5% against HK dollar with all 

other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been HK$3,881,000 

higher/lower (2007: HK$5,086,000 higher/lower), mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains 

or losses on translation of HK dollar denominated trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents 

and financial liabilities.

At 31 December 2008, if RMB had strengthened/weakened by 5% against Euro with all other 

variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been HK$2,051,000 lower/

higher (2007: HK$24,064,000 lower/higher), mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains or 

losses on translation of Euro denominated trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents and 

financial liabilities.

At 31 December 2008, if RMB had strengthened/weakened by 5% against RUR with all other 

variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been HK$5,921,000 lower/

higher (2007: nil), mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains or losses on translation of RUR 

denominated trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents and financial liabilities.
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3. FinanCial RiSK management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

At 31 December 2008, if RMB had strengthened/weakened by 5% against TRY with all other 

variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been HK$2,007,000 lower/

higher (2007: nil), mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains or losses on translation of TRY 

denominated trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents and financial liabilities.

As less than 10% of the Group’s foreign currency transactions are denominated in other foreign 

currencies, the directors are of the view that foreign exchange risk in relation to transactions 

denominated in other foreign currencies is low. Therefore, no sensitivity analysis for these 

currencies is presented.

(b) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Other than deposits held in banks, the Group does not have significant interest-bearing assets. 

The average rate of deposits held in banks as at 31 December 2008 was approximately 0.49% 

per annum (2007: 1.68%). Any change in the interest rate from time to time is not considered 

to have significant impact to the Group.

The Group’s interest rate risk which affects its income and operating cash flows mainly arises 

from bank borrowings. The bank borrowings were at fixed rates and expose the Group to fair 

value interest rate risk. As all the Group’s bank borrowings were short term loans and any 

change in the interest rate from time to time is not considered to have significant impact to 

the Group.

(c) Credit risk

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. Credit risk arises from cash and cash 

equivalents and trade and other receivables.

As at 31 December 2008, all the Group’s bank deposits are placed in high quality financial 

institutions without significant exposure to credit risk.

For trade and other receivables, the credit quality of the counterparties is assessed by taking 

into account their financial position, credit history and other factors. Individual credit limits are 

set based on the assessment of the credit quality. Given the constant repayment history, the 

directors are of the opinion that the risk of default by these counterparties is not significant. 

Please refer to Note 10 for further disclosure on credit risk.
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3. FinanCial RiSK management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(d) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient working capital, the availability 

of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close 

out market positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the Group 

maintains flexibility in funding by keeping availability of committed credit lines.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities that will be settled on a net basis 

into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet to the 

contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted 

cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances, as the impact of 

discounting is not significant.

less than 1 year 2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

group

Short term bank loans 450,813 394,111

Interest payment on short term bank loans 10,953 7,935

Trade and other payables 633,060 741,030

Provision for warranty 43,015 77,260

Current income tax liabilities – 3,725

1,137,841 1,224,061

Company

Trade and other payables 5,528 4,056

The directors, having considered the current operation and business plan of the Group as well 

as the available funding sources, are of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient working 

capital to enable it to operate as a going concern.

– In March 2009, CEC has agreed to provide financial assistance of RMB500,000,000 

(equivalent to approximately HK$566,958,000) in total to the Group (see details in Note 

2.1(a)); and

– Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity reserve and cash and 

cash equivalents on the basis of expected cash flow. The Group has implemented 

stringent cost controls and will monitor balance sheet liquidity ratios to maintain a safe 

liquidity to operate as a going concern.
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3. FinanCial RiSK management (Continued)

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a 

going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to 

maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends 

paid to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided 

by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital 

is calculated as equity, as shown in the consolidated balance sheets, plus net debt.

The Company’s strategy is to maintain an operation with minimal capital risk. The gearing ratio as 

at 31 December 2008 was 28% (2007: 0.4%). The increase in gearing ratio during 2008 resulted 

primarily from increased borrowings to finance the Group’s operations and decreased equity due to 

loss incurred for the year. The directors are of the opinion that the Group does not have significant 

capital risk.

3.3 Fair value estimation

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are a reasonable 

approximation of their fair values. The fair values of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is 

estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is 

available to the Group for similar financial instruments.
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4. CRitiCal aCCounting eStimateS anD juDgementS

(a) estimated impairment of non-financial assets

The Group tests annually whether non-financial assets, mainly including property, plant and equipment 

and intangible assets has suffered any impairment in accordance with the accounting policy stated in 

Note 2.7. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value-

in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates.

(b) income taxes and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in 

determining the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations 

for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The 

Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional 

taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that 

were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the 

period in which such determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forwards based on the estimated 

recoverable future taxable profits and applicable tax rates. The Group reassessed deferred taxation 

assets as of 31 December 2008 based on the profit forecast in the next 5 years, and recognised 

deferred taxation assets of HK$49,238,000.

(c) Share option

The Group operates a share option scheme. The fair value of the options granted during the year 

(Note 14(c)) is determined by using valuation techniques. The Group uses its judgements to select the 

valuation method and make assumptions for the significant inputs into the valuation model. At each 

balance sheet date, the Group reviews its estimates of the number of options that are expected to 

become exercisable. It recognises the impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, in the income 

statement, and a corresponding adjustment to equity over the remaining vesting period.
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4. CRitiCal aCCounting eStimateS anD juDgementS (Continued)

(d) provision for warranty

The Group generally offers warranties for its certain products and undertakes to repair and replace 

items that fail to operate satisfactorily. Management estimates the related provision for future warranty 

claims based on historical warranty claim information, as well as recent trends that might suggest that 

past cost information may differ from future claims.

Factors that could impact the estimated claim information include the success of the Group’s 

productivity and quality initiatives, as well as parts and labour costs. The estimates and judgments used 

are however not expected to have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 

amounts of the provision for warranty within the next financial year.

Should the estimated annual warranty expenses rate differ by 10% from management’s estimates, 

the Group would have charged additional warranty expenses amounting to HK$3,407,000 for the 

year ended 31 December 2008 (2007: HK$11,749,000).

(e) write-down of inventories to net realisable values

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 

applicable selling expenses. A considerable amount of estimation is required in assessing the selling 

price and related expenses.

During the year ended 31 December 2008, write-down of inventories to net realisable values with 

amount of HK$16,375,000 (2007: HK$27,908,000) has been made. In the opinion of the directors, 

the write-down is considered to be adequate.
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5. Segment inFoRmation

primary reporting format – business segments

The Group is principally engaged in manufacturing and sale of mobile handsets and other portable electronics 

products.

Philips mobile 

products

own-branded and

other oem mobile 

handsets multi-media player total

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 1,305,842 1,944,582 472,424 535,309 489,077 687,817 2,267,343 3,167,708

Segment results (17,614) 168,719 (9,968) 36,400 7,315 28,717 (20,267) 233,836

Other (losses)/gains – net (108,461) 4,751

Unallocated costs (180,360) (260,071)

Operating loss (309,088) (21,484)

Finance (costs)/income – net (24,371) 2,367

Loss before income tax (333,459) (19,117)

Income tax credit – 31,640

(Loss)/Profit for the year (333,459) 12,523

Segment assets 466,946 698,636 80,901 56,748 78,938 139,481 626,785 894,865

Unallocated assets 783,711 922,097

Total assets 1,410,496 1,816,962

Segment liabilities 218,414 227,045 4,535 8,243 8,735 3,378 231,684 238,666

Unallocated liabilities 895,204 977,460

Total liabilities 1,126,888 1,216,126

Capital expenditures 39,149 19,931

Depreciation/

 amortisation charge 36,038 44,240

Impairment charge 16,375 28,174
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5. Segment inFoRmation (Continued)

primary reporting format – business segments (Continued)

Unallocated costs consist primarily of selling and marketing costs and administrative expenses, which 

contribute to all business segments.

Segment assets consist primarily of inventories and trade receivables. Unallocated assets comprise property, 

plant and equipment, intangible assets, deferred taxation, other receivables and cash and cash equivalents.

Segment liabilities comprise trade payables. Unallocated liabilities comprise items such as taxation, borrowings, 

provisions and other payables.

Secondary reporting format – geographical segments

The Group’s three business segments operate in five main geographical areas – Mainland China, Europe, 

Hong Kong, Asia excluding Mainland China and Hong Kong and North America. The following tables present 

revenue and total assets and capital expenditure information for the Group’s geographical segments for the 

year ended 31 December 2008:

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue

Mainland China 836,320 1,243,354

Europe 489,377 630,047

Hong Kong 769,891 1,041,209

Asia excluding Mainland China and Hong Kong 97,939 228,762

North America 73,816 24,336

2,267,343 3,167,708

Revenue is allocated based on the country in which the customer is located.
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5. Segment inFoRmation (Continued)

Secondary reporting format – geographical segments (Continued)

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

total assets

Mainland China 1,028,449 1,656,582

Europe 272,041 –

Hong Kong 110,006 160,380

1,410,496 1,816,962

Total assets are allocated based on where the assets are located.

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital expenditures

Mainland China 38,823 19,794

Europe 313 –

Hong Kong 13 137

39,149 19,931

Capital expenditures are allocated based on where the assets are located.
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6. pRopeRty, plant anD eQuipment

group

leasehold
improvements

plant and
machinery

motor
vehicles

Furniture
and fixtures total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

at 1 january 2007
Cost 24,795 307,331 4,743 32,596 369,465
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (13,940) (264,272) (2,733) (26,835) (307,780)

Net book amount 10,855 43,059 2,010 5,761 61,685

year ended 31 December 2007
Opening net book amount 10,855 43,059 2,010 5,761 61,685
Exchange differences 665 2,295 78 283 3,321
Additions 1,096 8,462 446 5,565 15,569
Disposals – (20) – (783) (803)
Depreciation charge (4,619) (29,334) (715) (4,057) (38,725)

Closing net book amount 7,997 24,462 1,819 6,769 41,047

at 31 December 2007
Cost 27,197 336,411 5,458 38,487 407,553
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (19,200) (311,949) (3,639) (31,718) (366,506)

Net book amount 7,997 24,462 1,819 6,769 41,047

year ended 31 December 2008
Opening net book amount 7,997 24,462 1,819 6,769 41,047
Exchange differences 422 1,177 59 350 2,008
Additions 9,133 10,113 616 14,088 33,950
Disposals (151) (15) – (157) (323)
Depreciation charge (5,382) (17,702) (773) (5,700) (29,557)

Closing net book amount 12,019 18,035 1,721 15,350 47,125

at 31 December 2008
Cost 37,654 340,668 6,300 51,551 436,173
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (25,635) (322,633) (4,579) (36,201) (389,048)

Net book amount 12,019 18,035 1,721 15,350 47,125
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6. pRopeRty, plant anD eQuipment (Continued)

group (Continued)

Depreciation expense of HK$17,417,000 (2007: HK$29,577,000) has been expensed in cost of sales,  
HK$660,000 (2007: HK$237,000) in selling and marketing costs and HK$11,480,000 (2007: HK$8,911,000) 
in administrative expenses.

Lease rental expense amounting to HK$29,531,000 (2007: HK$25,791,000) relating to the lease of property 
and machinery are included in the income statement.

Company

motor
 vehicles

Furniture
and fixtures

leasehold
improvements total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

at 1 january 2007
Cost 1,172 166 – 1,338
Accumulated depreciation (393) (45) – (438)

Net book amount 779 121 – 900

year ended 31 December 2007
Opening net book amount 779 121 – 900
Additions 134 24 – 158
Disposal – (17) – (17)
Depreciation charge (254) (29) – (283)

Closing net book amount 659 99 – 758

at 31 December 2007
Cost 1,307 164 – 1,471
Accumulated depreciation (648) (65) – (713)

Net book amount 659 99 – 758

year ended 31 December 2008
Opening net book amount 659 99 – 758
Additions 3 35 220 258
Depreciation charge (278) (42) (109) (429)

Closing net book amount 384 92 111 587

at 31 December 2008
Cost 1,310 199 220 1,729
Accumulated depreciation (926) (107) (109) (1,142)

Net book amount 384 92 111 587
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7. intangiBle aSSetS – gRoup

Computer

 software

HK$’000

at 1 january 2007

Cost 30,900

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (14,649)

Net book amount 16,251

year ended 31 December 2007

Opening net book amount 16,251

Exchange differences 1,046

Additions 4,362

Amortisation charge (5,515)

Closing net book amount 16,144

at 31 December 2007

Cost 37,588

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (21,444)

Net book amount 16,144

year ended 31 December 2008

Opening net book amount 16,144

Exchange differences 824

Additions 5,199

Amortisation charge (6,481)

Closing net book amount 15,686

at 31 December 2008

Cost 38,417

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (22,731)

Net book amount 15,686

Amortisation of HK$1,021,000 (2007: HK$1,778,000) has been expensed in cost of sales, HK$45,000 (2007: 

HK$42,000) in selling and marketing costs and HK$5,415,000 (2007: HK$3,695,000) in administrative 

expenses.
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8. inveStmentS in SuBSiDiaRieS – Company

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Investments – unlisted shares, at cost (Note (a)) 260,000 260,000
Amounts due from subsidiaries (Note (b)) 11,700 11,700

271,700 271,700

Less: provision for impairment (Note (c)) (260,000) –

11,700 271,700

(a) The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2008.

name

place of
incorporation and
type of legal entity

place of operation and
principal activities 

particulars of
issued share capital

interest
held

Directly held:
Sang Fei (BVI) Co., Ltd British Virgin Islands 

 (“BVI”), 
 limited company

BVI, investment holding 1 ordinary share of
 US$1

100%

Indirectly held:
Sang Fei PRC, a Sino-foreign

 equity joint venture
 company

PRC, manufacture and
 sale of mobile handsets
 and other portable
 electronics products

Registered capital of
 US$33,000,000

65%

China Electronics Corporation
 Management Limited

Hong Kong,
 limited company

Hong Kong, provision of
 group management
 services

2 ordinary shares of
 HK$1 each

100%

Sangfei CEC Electronics Rus LLC 
 (“Sangfei Russia”) (Note (d))

Russia,
 limited company

Russia, sales of mobile
 handsets

Registered capital of
 US$700,000

65%

Sangfei CEC Elektronik
 Ticaret Anonim Sirketi
 (“Sangfei Turkey”) (Note (d))

Turkey,
 limited company

Turkey, sales of mobile
 handsets

Registered capital of
 Eur300,000

61%

(b) The balance is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed repayment term. It is classified as investment 

in subsidiaries.

(c) Provision for impairment has been made for investment in Sang Fei with full amount.

(d) During the year, Sangfei Russia and Sangfei Turkey were established by Sang Fei in which Sang Fei 

owns 100% and 95% equity interests respectively.
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9. inventoRieS – gRoup

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

Raw materials 230,118 257,504

Work in progress 52,978 46,950

Finished goods 185,191 139,735

468,287 444,189

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in cost of sales amounted to HK$1,725,375,000 

(2007: HK$2,400,076,000).

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value of HK$16,375,000 (2007: HK$27,908,000) has been 

included in cost of sales during the year.

10. tRaDe anD otHeR ReCeivaBleS

group Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables (Note (a)) 417,753 755,474 – –

Less: provision for impairment (266) (266) – –

Trade receivables – net 417,487 755,208 – –

Notes receivables 13,843 15,081 – –

Other receivables from related parties 560 7,091 – –

Prepayments and deposits 14,923 64,526 490 428

Value-added tax refundable 18,753 14,129 – –

Other receivables 20,194 21,115 99 490

485,760 877,150 589 918

The directors are of the opinion that the carrying amounts of trade and other receivables approximate their 

fair values. All trade and other receivables are due within 1 year and non interest-bearing. As at 31 December 

2008, trade receivables of HK$28,373,000 (2007: nil) have been pledged for bank loans of HK$25,536,000 

(Note 16).
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10. tRaDe anD otHeR ReCeivaBleS (Continued)

(a) The majority of the Group’s sales are on letter of credit or documents against payment. The remaining 

are with credit term of 30 to 120 days. As at 31 December 2008, the ageing analysis of the Group’s 

gross trade receivables was as follows:

ageing 2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current to 30 days 338,970 734,238

31 – 60 days 51,361 12,151

Over 60 days and within 1 year 27,151 8,324

Over 1 year 271 761

417,753 755,474

Including in the balance were trade and other receivables from related parties of HK$56,879,000 

(2007: HK$61,305,000) (Note 30(c)).

(b) The maximum exposure to credit risk at 31 December 2008 is the fair value of the trade receivables 

mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

Movement on the provision for impairment at the Group’s trade receivables are as follows:

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 266 –

Provision for impairment – 266

At 31 December 266 266
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10. tRaDe anD otHeR ReCeivaBleS (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

As at 31 December 2008, trade receivables of HK$146,611,000 (2007: HK$31,063,000) were past 

due but not impaired. These related to a number of customers which had no history of default, the 

ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

ageing 2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 30 days 68,094 10,093

31 – 60 days 51,361 12,151

Over 60 days and within 1 year 27,151 8,324

Over 1 year 5 495

146,611 31,063

As at 31 December 2008, trade receivables of HK$266,000 were impaired and fully provided for 

(2007: HK$266,000).

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other receivables are denominated in the following 

currencies:

Currency 2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

Renminbi 106,764 170,672

HK dollar 2,786 918

US dollar 112,892 165,208

Euro 82,208 540,225

TRY 44,579 –

RUR 131,913 –

Other currencies 4,618 127

485,760 877,150
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11. FinanCial aSSetS at FaiR value tHRougH pRoFit oR loSS – 
gRoup

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

Forward foreign exchange contracts 1,271 –

The fair value is based on the amount bid prices in an active market.

12. CaSH anD CaSH eQuivalentS

group Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash at bank and in hand 124,935 163,841 9,256 6,105

Short-term bank deposits 218,194 227,900 206,614 216,441

343,129 391,741 215,870 222,546

The effective interest rate on short-term bank deposits was 0.49% per annum (2007: 1.68%). The maturity 

days of these deposits ranged from 6 to 61 days (2007: 2 to 18 days).
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13. iSSueD eQuity/SHaRe Capital

(a) issued equity – group

number of issued

shares equity

HK$’000

At 1 January and 31 December 2007 1,083,560,000 370,074

at 1 january and 31 December 2008 1,083,560,000 370,074

(i) The number of shares reflect the Company’s ordinary share of HK$0.01 each issued and fully 

paid.

(ii) On 10 December 2003, CEC, the Company, the Company’s then holding company, Winsan 

International Holdings Limited entered into a sale and purchase agreement. Pursuant to the 

agreement, the Company acquired CEC’s 65% equity interest in Sang Fei (the “Acquisition”) 

and the consideration was satisfied by the issuance of the Company’s 6,500,000,000 shares 

to CEC. The Acquisition was completed on 24 September 2004 and has been accounted for as 

a reverse acquisition. For accounting purpose, Sang Fei is regarded as the acquirer while the 

Company and its then subsidiaries are deemed to have been acquired by Sang Fei. Accordingly, 

the amount recognised as issued equity of the Group, which consists of share capital and share 

premium, has been determined by adding to the issued equity of Sang Fei immediately before 

the completion of the Acquisition the cost of the acquisition of the Company and its then 

subsidiaries.

(b) Share capital – Company

number of shares – ordinary share

of HK$0.01 each

authorised

issued and 

fully paid

Share 

capital

Share 

premium total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January and

 31 December 2007 30,000,000,000 1,083,560,000 10,836 325,055 335,891

at 1 january and

 31 December 2008 30,000,000,000 1,083,560,000 10,836 325,055 335,891



73China Electronics Corporation Holdings Company LimitedAnnual Report 2008

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2008

14. otHeR ReSeRveS

group

Capital

reserve

Surplus

reserves

Share

option

reserve

translation

reserve total

(Note (a)) (Note (b)) (Note (c))

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

at 1 january 2007 (1,806) 33,325 10,226 13,392 55,137

Share options granted – – 1,737 – 1,737

Currency translation differences – – – 14,933 14,933

at 31 December 2007 (1,806) 33,325 11,963 28,325 71,807

at 1 january 2008 (1,806) 33,325 11,963 28,325 71,807

Share options lapsed – – (4,822) – (4,822)

Currency translation differences – – – 10,771 10,771

at 31 December 2008 (1,806) 33,325 7,141 39,096 77,756

(a) Capital reserve

Capital reserve represents the exchange differences arising from paid-in capital paid by foreign 

currencies in the principal subsidiary, Sang Fei.

(b) Surplus reserves

In accordance with the “Law of the People’s Republic of China on Joint Ventures Using Chinese and 

Foreign Investment” and Sang Fei’s Articles of Association, appropriations of the reserve fund and 

the enterprise expansion fund from profit after taxation have to be made prior to profit distribution 

to the equity owners. The percentage of appropriation of reserve fund and the enterprise expansion 

fund is approved by the board of directors.

Upon approval from the board of directors, the reserve fund can be used to offset against accumulated 

losses or to increase capital while the enterprise expansion fund can be used to expand production 

and to increase capital.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the contributed surplus of the Company is distributable 

to shareholders in certain circumstances as specified in section 54 thereof.
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14. otHeR ReSeRveS (Continued)

(c) Share option reserve

On 25 October 2005, 28,450,000 options were granted to certain directors, employees and other 

participants at an exercise price of HK$1.488 under the Share Option Scheme. 40% of the options 

granted are exercisable from 1 November 2005 to 31 October 2008, another 30% are exercisable from 

1 November 2007 to 31 October 2009 and the remaining 30% are exercisable from 1 November 2008 

to 31 October 2010. The options have an option term of 3 years commencing from the exercisable 

date. No option was exercised during the year.

Movements in the number of share options outstanding are as follows:

2008 2007

At 1 January 20,950,000 21,150,000

Lapsed (9,880,000) (200,000)

At 31 December 11,070,000 20,950,000

All share options outstanding as at 31 December 2008 were exercisable.

Share options outstanding as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 have the following expiry date:

2008 2007

Expiry date – 31 October

2008 – 8,380,000

2009 5,535,000 6,285,000

2010 5,535,000 6,285,000

11,070,000 20,950,000

During the year ended 31 December 2008, 9,880,000 options lapsed and an amount of HK$4,822,000 

was transferred from share option reserve to retained earnings (2007: expense of HK$1,737,000 was 

recognised for share options granted).
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14. otHeR ReSeRveS (Continued)

Company

Contributed
surplus

Share
option

reserve total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

at 1 january 2007 61,672 10,226 71,898
Share options granted – 1,737 1,737

at 31 December 2007 61,672 11,963 73,635

at 1 january 2008 61,672 11,963 73,635
Share options lapsed – (4,822) (4,822)

at 31 December 2008 61,672 7,141 68,813

15. tRaDe anD otHeR payaBleS

group Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 316,536 381,597 – –
Other payables from related parties
 (Note 30(c)) 4,086 1,332 – –
Accrued expenses 131,896 192,149 5,521 4,040
Advance from customers 71,009 65,197 – –
Other payables 109,533 100,755 7 16

633,060 741,030 5,528 4,056

As at 31 December 2008, the ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables was as follows:

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current to 30 days 299,448 367,655
31 – 60 days 8,788 474
Over 60 days 8,300 13,468

316,536 381,597

Included in the balance of trade and other payables to related parties amounted to HK$38,725,000 (2007: 
HK$17,834,000) (Note 30(c)).

The directors are of the opinion that the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximate their 
fair values.
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16. SHoRt teRm BanK loanS – gRoup

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

Unsecured 425,277 394,111

Secured 25,536 –

450,813 394,111

Secured bank loans of HK$25,536,000 was pledged with trade receivables of HK$28,373,000 (Note 10). 

The bank loans as at 31 December 2008 were repayable within one year and bear interest at the average 

borrowing rate of 6.21% per annum(2007:6.19%).

The carrying amounts of the short term bank loans approximate their fair value, which are denominated in 

the following currencies:

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

Renminbi 425,277 354,839

US dollar 25,536 39,272

450,813 394,111

The Group has undrawn borrowing facilities of approximately HK$5,616,000 as at 31 December 2008 (2007: 

HK$466,104,000). Such undrawn facilities are at floating rate and expiring within one year which are subject 

to review within the next three months.
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17. pRoviSion FoR waRRanty – gRoup

The Group provides free repair and replacement services ranging from 12 to 15 months after sales. The cost 

of the warranty obligation under which the Group agrees to remedy defects in its products is accrued at 

the time the related sales are recognised. As at 31 December 2008, the Group had provided for expected 

warranty claims on own mobile products and certain ODM/OEM products based on past experience of the 

level of repairs and returns.

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 77,260 12,634

Charged for the year (Note (a)) 34,065 64,437

Provision related to OEM products (Note (b)) – 53,055

Less: utilised during the year (68,310) (52,866)

At 31 December 43,015 77,260

(a) Provision for warranty of HK$34,065,000 (2007: HK$64,437,000) has been charged to selling and 

marketing costs;

(b) Provision for warranty of HK$53,055,000 was related to OEM products which were sold to Philips 

Group before 1 April 2007. In this respect, Philips Group reimbursed nearly the same amount to the 

Group.

18. otHeR (loSSeS)/gainS – net

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

Foreign exchange loss – net (111,680) (4,948)

Sales of samples and materials 1,487 1,633

Fair value gain from foreign exchange forward contracts 1,271 –

Written off of payables – 7,504

Others 461 562

(108,461) 4,751
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19. eXpenSeS By natuRe

Expenses included in cost of sales, selling and marketing costs and administrative expenses are analysed as 

follows:

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

Depreciation and amortisation expenses (Notes 6 and 7) 36,038 44,240

Employee benefit expenses (Note 20) 196,993 173,221

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress 55,618 (91,023)

Raw materials and consumables used 1,669,757 2,491,099

Impairment provision for receivables – 266

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value (Note 9) 16,375 27,908

Provision for warranty (Note 17) 34,065 64,437

Operating lease expenses on property and machinery 29,531 25,791

Research and development costs 82,414 49,071

Auditor’s remuneration 2,500 1,890

20. employee BeneFit eXpenSeS

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 183,974 156,359

Contributions to retirement schemes (Notes (a) and (b)) 13,019 15,125

Share based compensation (Note 14(c)) – 1,737

196,993 173,221

(a) The Group operates a MPF for the eligible employees in Hong Kong. The Group’s contributions to 

MPF are set at 5% of employees’ salaries and are expensed as incurred.

(b) The principal subsidiary, Sang Fei, participates in a defined contribution retirement scheme based on 

laws and regulations in the PRC. The local government authority of the PRC is responsible for the 

pension liabilities to these retired employees in the PRC. Sang Fei made monthly contributions to the 

retirement scheme at a minimum rate of 8% (2007: 8%) of the salaries of employees in the PRC.
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21. DiReCtoRS’ anD SenioR management’S emolumentS

(a) Directors’ emoluments

The remuneration of every director for the year ended 31 December 2008 is set out below:

name of Director Fees

Salaries,
 allowance

 and
 benefits

in kind

employer’s
contribution
 to pension

 scheme
Share-based

compensation total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Mr. Xiong Qunli 624 – – – 624
Mr. Chen Zhaoxiong* – – – – –
Mr. Tong Baoan 550 – – – 550
Mr. Fan Qingwu – 521 60 – 581
Mr. Hua Longxing – 483 – – 483
Mr. Chan Kay Cheung 200 – – – 200
Mr. Wong Po Yan 200 – – – 200
Mr. Yin Yongli 200 – – – 200

1,774 1,004 60 – 2,838

During the year, no director has waived emolument or has agreed to waive the directors’ emolument 
(2007: nil).

* Resigned on 14 January 2008.

The remuneration of every director for the year ended 31 December 2007 is set out below:

Name of Director Fees

Salaries,
 allowance

 and
 benefits

in kind

Employer’s
contribution
 to pension

 scheme
Share-based

 compensation Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Mr. Chen Zhaoxiong – – – – –
Mr. Tong Baoan 500 – – 333 833
Mr. Fan Qingwu – 400 49 315 764
Mr. Hua Longxing – 526 – 315 841
Mr. Chan Kay Cheung 180 – – – 180
Mr. Wong Po Yan 180 – – – 180
Mr. Yin Yongli 180 – – – 180

1,040 926 49 963 2,978
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21. DiReCtoRS’ anD SenioR management’S emolumentS 
(Continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The emoluments payable to the five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group 

during the year are as follows:

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 9,678 12,434

Bonuses 1,162 2,192

Contributions to retirement schemes 204 460

Share-based compensation (Note 14(c)) – 109

11,044 15,195

(c) the emoluments fell within the following band:

number of individuals

2008 2007

HK$1,000,001 – HK$1,500,000 1 1

HK$1,500,001 – HK$2,000,000 – –

HK$2,000,001 – HK$2,500,000 2 2

HK$2,500,001 – HK$3,000,000 2 –

HK$3,000,001 – HK$3,500,000 – –

HK$3,500,001 – HK$4,000,000 – 1

HK$4,000,001 – HK$4,500,000 – –

HK$4,500,001 – HK$5,000,000 – –

HK$5,000,001 – HK$5,500,000 – 1

5 5

22. FinanCe (CoStS)/inCome – net

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest income on short-term deposits 9,234 11,442

Interest on bank loans (33,605) (9,075)

Finance (costs)/income-net (24,371) 2,367
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23. taXation

(a) income tax credit

The amount of taxation charged/(credited) to the consolidated income statement represents:

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current taxation – PRC enterprise income tax – 6,135

Deferred taxation – (37,775)

– (31,640)

(b) No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group has no assessable profit for the 

year (2007: nil).

(c) The principal subsidiary, Sang Fei, is a foreign investment production enterprise established in Shenzhen 

Special Economic Zone in the PRC, the prevailing PRC enterprise income tax rate before 2008 was 

15%. As approved by the tax authorities in 1998, Sang Fei is entitled to exemption from income tax 

for two years followed by a 50% tax reduction for three years, commencing from the year ended 31 

December 2000, the first cumulative profit-making year net of losses carried forward. Such tax holiday 

ended at 31 December 2004.

Sang Fei was certified as a high-tech enterprise from 2002 and as approved by the tax authorities in 

2004, Sang Fei is entitled to 50% tax reduction from enterprise income tax for further three years 

starting from 2005. Consequently, enterprise income tax has been provided at the rate of 7.5% for 

the year ended 31 December 2007. Such tax reduction ended at 31 December 2007.

On 16 March 2007, the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC (the “new CIT Law”) was approved 

and became effective 1 January 2008. In accordance with the new CIT law, Sang Fei’s applicable tax 

rate will be changed to 25% with a transitional period of 5 years from 2008 in which the tax rate will 

be changed to 18%, 20%, 22%, 24% and 25% for the five years from 2008 to 2012 respectively. 

Accordingly, the applicable tax rate for the year ended 31 December 2008 was 18%.

No provision for PRC enterprise income tax has been made as the Group has no assessable tax profit 

for the year ended 31 December 2008.
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23. taXation (Continued)

(d) The taxation on the Group’s loss before taxation differs from the theoretical amount that would arise 

using the taxation rate in the PRC are as follows:

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before income tax (333,459) (19,117)

Calculated at a taxation rate of 18% (2007: 15%) (60,023) (2,868)

Effect of tax concession – (406)

Expenses not deductible for taxation purposes 333 136

Tax losses for which no deferred income tax asset

 was recognised (Note (e)) 75,684 266

Effect on change of tax rates (15,994) (28,768)

Income tax credit – (31,640)

(e) Deferred taxation

The movement on the deferred tax assets during the year is as follows:

impairment

of

inventories

accelerated

 depreciation

 of property,

 plant and 

equipment

provision for

 warranty

 and other

 accruals tax losses others total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

at 1 january 2007 2,534 4,717 948 – 717 8,916

(Charged)/credited to the

 income statement 9,028 8,314 21,150 – (717) 37,775

at 31 December 2007 11,562 13,031 22,098 – – 46,691

at 1 january 2008 11,562 13,031 22,098 – – 46,691

Exchange differences 524 590 1,433 – – 2,547

(Charged)/credited to the

 income statement (12,086) (13,621) (23,531) 49,238 – –

at 31 December 2008 – – – 49,238 – 49,238
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23. taXation (Continued)

(e) Deferred taxation (Continued)

The amounts shown in the balance sheet include the following:

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

Deferred tax assets to be recovered after more than 12 months 49,238 10,879

Deferred tax assets to be recovered within 12 months – 35,812

49,238 46,691

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carrying-forwards to the extent that the 

realisation of the related tax benefit through the future taxable profits is probable. The Group did not 

recognise deferred income tax assets of HK$79,934,000 (2007: HK$4,250,000) in respect of losses 

amounted to HK$418,892,000 (2007: HK$23,210,000) that can be carried forward against future 

taxable income.

24. (loSS)/pRoFit attRiButaBle to eQuity HolDeRS oF tHe 
Company

The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company is dealt with in the financial statements of the 

Company to the extent of the HK$268,648,000 (2007: profit of HK$40,985,000).

25. (loSS)/eaRningS peR SHaRe

(a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share is based on the Group’s loss attributable to equity 

holders of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2008 of HK$220,035,000 (2007: profit of 

HK$8,074,000) and the 1,083,560,000 (2007: 1,083,560,000) ordinary shares in issue during the 

year.

(b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share

As the impact of exercise of share option was anti-dilutive as at 31 December 2008, the diluted loss 

per share is equal to the basic loss per share. (2007: Diluted earnings per share was calculated by 

adjusting the number of 1,083,560,000 ordinary shares by adding 6,405,096 ordinary shares to assume 

conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares granted).
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26. DiviDenDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ended 31 December 2008 (2007: 

nil).

27. CaSH uSeD in opeRationS

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before income tax (333,459) (19,117)

Adjustment for:

 Depreciation of owned property, plant and equipment 29,557 38,725

 Amortisation of intangible assets 6,481 5,515

 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (95) (337)

 Interest income (9,234) (11,442)

 Interest expense 33,605 9,075

 Share-based compensation – 1,737

(273,145) 24,156

Changes in working capital

 Inventories (24,098) (108,387)

 Trade and other receivables 402,242 (365,589)

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (1,271) –

 Trade and other payables (107,970) 22,386

 Provision for warranty (34,245) 64,626

Cash used in operations (38,487) (362,808)

(a) Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment include:

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

Net book value (Note 6) 323 803

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 95 337

Cash proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 418 1,140
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28. CommitmentS

(a) Capital commitments – group

As at 31 December 2008, the Group’s capital commitments which were contracted but not provided 

for were as follows:

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and

 computer software 2,094 2,502

(b) operating lease commitments

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-

cancellable operating leases for factories and office premises as follows:

group Company

2008 2007 2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Not later than one year 31,913 30,612 359 343

In the second to fifth years 32,207 21,901 30 344

64,120 52,513 389 687

29. Contingent liaBilitieS

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities outstanding as at 31 December 2008 (2007: 

nil).
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30. RelateD-paRty tRanSaCtionS anD BalanCeS

In addition to those transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group 

had the following material transactions with related parties during the year:

The Group entered into transactions with companies under common control of CEC, the ultimate holding 

company of the Company. These companies are denoted by * below.

During the year ended 31 December 2007, the Group also entered into transactions with companies under 

common control of Koninklijke Philips Electronics N.V. (“KPE”) (a company incorporated in Holland), the 

ultimate holding company of the minority shareholder with significant influence on operation of the principal 

subsidiary, Sang Fei before 31 March 2007. These companies are denoted by # below. In March 2007, 

KPE disposed of its equity interests, through its subsidiary, in Sang Fei to Shenzhen SED Electronics Group 

Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of CEC and ceased its significant influence on Sang Fei. From then onward, KPE and 

the companies under its common control are not the Group’s related parties. Consequently, the Group’s 

transactions with them since 1 April 2007 and the balances with them as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 

are not disclosed as related party transactions and balances.

(a) Sales of products, samples and materials

Sales of products: 2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

Philips (China) Investment Co., Ltd # – 207,345

Philips Electronics Singapore Pte. Ltd # – 171,609

Philips Electronics Hong Kong Ltd # – 67,253

Shenzhen SED Coalition Electronics Co., Ltd * 193,778 330,310

Philips Consumer Electronics B.V. # – 156

Shenzhen SED Electronics Sales Corporation * 6,130 8,136

Shenzhen SED Electronics Group Company Ltd * – 51

Shanghai SED ARC Co., Ltd * – 8

China Electronic Appliance Corporation * 139,901 78,033

Shenzhen Sang Da Baili Electronics Co., Ltd * 889 –

Shenzhen SED Industry Co., Ltd * 1,031 –

Shenzhen SED Wireless Communication Technology Co., Ltd * 574 –
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30. RelateD-paRty tRanSaCtionS anD BalanCeS (Continued)

(a) Sales of products, samples and materials (Continued)

Sales of samples and materials: 2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

Philips Consumer Electronics B.V. # – 336

Philips (China) Investment Co., Ltd # – 311

Philips Electronics Singapore Pte Ltd # – 660

Philips Electronics Hong Kong Ltd # – 81

Shenzhen SED Coalition Electronics Co., Ltd * – 40

Shenzhen Sang Da Baili Electronics Co., Ltd * – 1,822

Shenzhen SED Electronics Sales Corporation * 106 64

Shanghai SED ARC Co., Ltd * 45 –

P-Marshall Singapore Pte. Ltd * 24 –

Shenzhen SED Wireless Communication Technology Co., Ltd * 25 –

Sales of maintenance services:

Philips (China) Investment Co., Ltd # – 3,158

Members of CEC and its group companies (the “CEC Group”) are the major customers of the Group. 

Sales to CEC Group were carried out on normal commercial terms and with reference to market 

rates.
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30. RelateD-paRty tRanSaCtionS anD BalanCeS (Continued)

(b) other transactions

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

purchase of goods: (i)

Philips Electronics Hong Kong Ltd # – 288

Philips (China) Investment Co., Ltd # – 559

Shenzhen SED Electronics Sales Corporation * 687 867

Shenzhen Sang Da Baili Electronics Co., Ltd * 69,691 75,726

SED (Hong Kong) Company Limited * 21,514 44,178

Shenzhen SED Fitment & Decoration Co., Ltd * 37 –

processing services: (ii)

Shenzhen Sang Da Baili Electronics Co., Ltd * 5,743 6,532

Shenzhen SED Industry Co., Ltd * 3,393 4,379

Fitment and decoration services: (iii)

Shenzhen SED Fitment & Decoration Co., Ltd * – 221

Canteen services: (iv)

Shenzhen Sang Da Baili Electronics Co., Ltd * 13,917 11,899

Repair and maintenance services: (v)

Shenzhen SED Coalition Electronics Co., Ltd * – 26

Shanghai SED ARC Co., Ltd * 3,354 1,321

Shenzhen SED ARC Co., Ltd * 7,869 11,088

Rental: (vi)

Shenzhen SED Industry Co., Ltd * 13,520 8,018

China Great Wall Computer Shenzhen Co., Ltd * – 1,762

Great Wall Technology Company Limited * – 1,250

licence fee: (vii)

Shenzhen SED Electronics Group Co., Ltd * 17,983 14,063

Comprehensive services: (viii)

P-Marshall Hong Kong Ltd. * 17,860 26,910

P-Marshall Singapore Pte. Ltd. * 16,977 13,149
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30. RelateD-paRty tRanSaCtionS anD BalanCeS (Continued)

(b) other transactions (Continued)

(i) The Group from time to time purchases raw materials from members of the CEC Group. 

Purchases of goods from the CEC Group were carried out on normal commercial terms and 

with reference to market rates.

(ii) The Group secured dedicated processing services of surface mount assembly production 

lines from members of the CEC Group. The processing services were carried out on normal 

commercial terms and with reference to market rates.

(iii) The Group engaged members of the CEC Group to undertake renovation works in connection 

with the expansion of the Group’s production premises. The fitment and decoration services 

were carried out on normal commercial terms and with reference to market rates.

(iv) A member of the CEC Group provides canteen services to the production staff of the Group. 

The fee of the canteen services were calculated by reference to actual consumption and an 

agreed fixed service fee, such service fees were carried out on normal commercial terms and 

with reference to market rates.

(v) The Group engaged members of the CEC Group to provide for after sales product repair and 

maintenance services in respect of its products. The repair and maintenance services were 

carried out on normal commercial terms and with reference to market rates.

(vi) The production facilities and some of the staff quarters of the Group were located within an 

industrial complex owned by members of the CEC Group. The rentals were based on lease 

agreements entered into by the relevant parties and the Group and were carried out on normal 

commercial terms and with reference to market rates.

(vii) Members of the CEC Group license the Xenium trademark to the Group for use. The licensing 

were based on the licence agreement and were carried out on normal commercial terms and 

with reference to market rates.

(viii) The Group engaged members of the CEC Group to provide various business support services in 

relation to sales of products. The business support services were based on the comprehensive 

services agreements and were carried out on normal commercial terms. The service charges shall 

be the actual costs incurred by members of CEC Group for the provision of such services.
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30. RelateD-paRty tRanSaCtionS anD BalanCeS (Continued)

(c) year-end balance arising from sales and other transactions

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

trade receivables due from related parties:

Shenzhen SED Coalition Electronics Co., Ltd * 22,783 5,503

Shenzhen SED Electronics Sales Corporation * 321 737

Shenzhen Sang Da Baili Electronics Co., Ltd * – 695

China Electronic Appliance Corporation * 27,699 24,483

Shenzhen SED Industry Co., Ltd * 908 –

51,711 31,418

other receivables due from related parties:

Shenzhen SED Coalition Electronics Co., Ltd * – 23

Shenzhen SED Electronics Sales Corporation * 16 16

Shenzhen SED International Electronic Device Co., Ltd * 129 141

Shenzhen SED Electronics Group Company Limited * – 6,667

Shenzhen Sang Da Baili Electronics Co., Ltd * 415 244

560 7,091

prepayments:

Shenzhen Sang Da Baili Electronics Co., Ltd * – 15,411

SED (Hong Kong) Company Limited * – 7,385

P-Marshall Hong Kong Ltd * 2,055 –

P-Marshall Singapore Pte. Ltd * 2,553 –

4,608 22,796

trade and other receivables due from related parties

 in total (note 10) 56,879 61,305
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30. RelateD-paRty tRanSaCtionS anD BalanCeS (Continued)

(c) year-end balance arising from sales and other transactions (Continued)

2008 2007

HK$’000 HK$’000

trade payables due to related parties:

Shenzhen SED Electronics Sales Corporation * – 150

SED (Hong Kong) Company Limited * 4,399 2,283

Shenzhen Sang Da Baili Electronics Co., Ltd * 4,686 11

Shenzhen SED Industry Co., Ltd * 557 –

9,642 2,444

other payables due to related parties:

Shenzhen Sang Da Baili Electronics Co., Ltd * 448 461

Shenzhen SED ARC Co., Ltd * 415 864

Shanghai SED ARC Co., Ltd * – 7

Shenzhen SED Industry Co., Ltd * 18 –

P-Marshall Singapore Pte. Ltd * 3,205 –

4,086 1,332

advance from customers:

China Electronic Appliance Corporation * 11,339 10,753

Shenzhen SED Electronics Group Company Ltd * – 261

Shenzhen SED Electronics Sales Corporation * 227 2,158

Shanghai SED ARC Co., Ltd * 158 102

Shenzhen SED Coalition Electronics Co., Ltd * 11,991 784

Shenzhen SED ARC Co., Ltd * 6 –

Shenzhen SED Wireless Communication Technology Co.,Ltd * 1,198 –

P-Marshall Singapore Pte. Ltd * 78 –

24,997 14,058

trade and other payables due to related parties

 in total (note 15) 38,725 17,834
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30. RelateD-paRty tRanSaCtionS anD BalanCeS (Continued)

(d) additional information on other state-owned enterprises

The Company is controlled by CEC, and is ultimately controlled by Mainland China government, 
which also controls a significant portion of the productive assets and entities in the Mainland China. 
In accordance with Hong Kong Accounting Standard 24 “Related Party Disclosures”, state-owned 
enterprises and their subsidiaries, other than CEC Group, are also defined as related parties of the 
Company (“Other State-owned Enterprises”).

(i) Summary of significant transactions with Other State-owned 
Enterprises

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Sales of products and materials 448,419 428,418

Purchase of materials 23,651 24,431

Interest income from state-owned banks 8,840 9,955

Interest expenses to state-owned banks 33,605 9,075

(ii) Summary of balances with Other State-owned Enterprises

2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 13,843 13,383

Trade and other payables 3,127 170

Bank deposits in state-owned banks 322,129 311,477

Bank borrowings from state-owned banks 450,813 394,111

Balances with Other State-owned Enterprises, except for bank deposits and bank borrowings, 
were unsecured and interest-free.
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31. aCQuiSition oF CeC HuaDa eleCtRoniC DeSign Co., ltD.

Pursuant to agreements entered into with the shareholders of CEC Huada Electronic Design Co., Ltd. 

(“Huada Electronics”) on 20 June 2008, the Company has conditionally agreed to purchase the entire equity 

interest in Huada Electronics by issuing an aggregate of 608,000,000 new shares at the price of HK$2.50 for 

settlement of the consideration for the acquisition. After completion of the acquisition, Huada Electronics 

will be converted into a wholly foreign-owned enterprise and will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 

Company and the financial statements of Huada Electronics will be consolidated into those of the Group.

The acquisition of Huada Electronics has been approved by the shareholders of the Company on 21 July 

2008. Up to the date of this report, the acquisition has not yet been completed.

32. eventS aFteR tHe BalanCe SHeet Date

In March 2009, CEC has agreed to provide financial assistance of RMB500,000,000 (equivalent to 

approximately HK$566,958,000) in total to the Group. The financial assistance includes (i) guarantees of 

RMB400,000,000 granted to the Group for obtaining short-term bank loans and (ii) financing facilities of up 

to RMB100,000,000 provided by CEC. Up to the date of this report, the Group has utilised the guarantees 

from CEC to obtain banking facilities of RMB380,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$430,888,000).



China Electronics Corporation Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 200894

Financial Summary

Set out below is a summary of the financial information of the Group for the last five yeas.

ReSultS

year ended 31 December

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 2,267,343 3,167,708 3,549,329 4,768,526 4,590,123

(Loss)/profit before income tax (333,459) (19,117) 71,517 89,946 14,959

Income tax credit/(expenses) – 31,640 (2,358) (5,598) (8,518)

(Loss)/profit for the year (333,459) 12,523 69,159 84,348 6,441

Attributable to :

Equity holders of the Company (220,035) 8,074 43,276 49,899 (19,263)

Minority interests (113,424) 4,449 25,883 34,449 25,704

(333,459) 12,523 69,159 84,348 6,441

aSSetS anD liaBilitieS

as at 31 December

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets 1,410,496 1,816,962 1,335,642 1,936,037 1,660,344

Total liabilities (1,126,888) (1,216,126) (732,504) (1,367,642) (1,166,219)

Minority interests (21,102) (129,066) (138,775) (138,379) (124,884)

262,506 471,770 464,363 430,016 369,241
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